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Management Board’s report 

In this report we present the results of the activities of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv 
for the year 2015. In the remainder of this document we refer to Generali schadeverzekering 
maatschappij nv as ‘the company’ or ‘Generali Schade’. 

1 Profile and strategy 
Generali Schade is the Dutch non-life insurance company of the international Generali Insurance 
Group (Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A.), whose head office is located in Trieste, Italy. All non-life 
insurance activities of Generali Nederland in the Netherlands are under the management control of 
Generali Schade. 

In the Netherlands, Generali Schade is a subsidiary of Generali Nederland nv (until February 2015 
named Generali verzekeringsgroep nv, and thereafter referred to as Generali Nederland) with over 
350 staff. All Generali staff in the Netherlands are employed by Generali Nederland. Generali 
Schade provides insurance services in the Netherlands with the purpose to actively protect and 
enhance people's lives. The mission of Generali is to be the first choice by delivering relevant and 
accessible insurance solutions. 

2 Financial results 
Financial markets have continued to prove challenging for the entire insurance industry. Interest 
rates on government bonds with a maturity of 10 years continued to be low and volatile. The euro 
annual swap rate (10 years) 1.0 % at year end 2015, with as low of 0.4% during 2015.  

The net result decreased from € 4.5 million to € 1.9 million. Management continued to implement a 
cost reduction program to lower the cost base.  

Dividend is proposed to be paid to the shareholder in respect of 2015. 

3 Operating results  
Gross premiums written increased from € 246 million (2014) to € 247 million (2015). 

This growth is mainly coming from the existing Motor products in the Underwriting Agents 
distribution channel. In 2015 the premiums for sick leave have been raised (experience rating), but 
also because of the very competitive and shrinking market the gross premiums written for the 
Income products declined (disability and sick leave). Despite the leave of an Underwriting Agent 
the total gross premiums written for the Personal branches remained stable. The shift from the 
Provincial distribution channel to Underwriting Agents continued in 2015. 

In 2015 the company introduced three new retail insurance products and started with a 
multichannel distribution approach.  

Compared to previous year the operating result declined. The main drivers are the fierce 
competition and the increasing costs due to the investments in the Direct channel and also the 
switch of overhead costs from Life to Non Life. This especially affects the Motor and Personal 
branches. The loss ratio of Motor increased compared to previous year as we suffered from some 
major MTPL losses. For the Commercial and Personal branches the loss ratio improved: previous 
year a relative high number of large fire claims occurred. The results in the Health segment remain 
positive: mainly driven by the measures related to the claims handling process which have been 
taken during the previous years. 

4 Asset management 
The continuing concerns regarding the creditworthiness of a number of European countries was 
reason for the company to persist in its policy of not investing in paper issued by southern 
European issuers. Instead, we continued to buy government bonds issued by core Euro-zone 
countries, such as Germany and the Netherlands. In 2015 the realized gains and losses shows an 
amount of € 0.2 million (2014: € 0.8 million).  
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Within the asset management activities we seek to balance the interests of all our stakeholders, but 
in particular the interests of those that have a long term financial interest in Generali Schade such 
as policyholders and shareholders. We aim to maintain financial strength; to honour our long term 
commitments; to satisfy the requirements of regulators and to enhance the returns to our 
shareholders through the deployment of prudent levels of capital.  

Our investments in fixed income instruments are of a high quality. The major part of the bond 
portfolio is issued by the Dutch and German governments and has a low risk profile.  

5 Operational costs 
Reducing our operational costs to acceptable levels while improving the quality of our service has 
been the key focus in 2015, resulting in a reorganisation, and will continue to be a focal point of 
management effort in 2016. Reduced usage of temporary staffing and optimisation of the use of 
Straight Through Processing (e.g. Meetingpoint) are expected to help reduce costs. 

6 Solvency 
The solvency ratio reported for regulatory purposes has exceeded minimum requirements 
throughout the entire year. At year end 2015 total equity amounted to € 66.9 million. Based upon 
this equity amount the available solvency capital is almost two times the legal minimum 
requirements (€ 36.4 million). This means that the interests of our policyholders are safeguarded 
more than adequately. 

As of 1 January 2016 the new supervisory regime, Solvency II, has taken effect. In May of this year 
the first official Solvency II reporting to De Nederlandsche Bank is due. Preliminary calculations 
available at the time of preparing this report indicate that the Solvency II ratio at year-end 2015 is in 
the range of 140% to 160%. 

7 Expectations for 2016 
The market changes quickly. A high share of self-directed customers and online will be dominant in 
new personal line insurance. As a consequence we will further develop our activities in the Direct 
channel. We also expect a further growth of the Underwriting Agents channel.  

Due to the introduction of the new retail products in 2015 an increase of the gross premiums written 
is expected in all the distribution channels. Also in Commercial we see opportunities for further 
growth. As the Health market faces difficult times, we expect a further decline in gross premiums 
written. 

In 2016 the technical result is expected to improve, which is caused by the planned cost savings 
and increase in gross premiums written. This primarily hits the Motor and Personal branches. The 
total loss ratio will remain at about the same level compared to 2015 due to the continuous focus 
on prevention and reintegration.  

 

The investment income is expected to decline as a result of the low interest rates for the 
reinvestments on bonds in the current market. 

8 Corporate governance 
Corporate governance represents the sum of the methods, processes, models, and planning, 
management and control systems that are required to direct, administer and/or control the 
operations of the company. Corporate governance deals with the relationships among the many 
stakeholders involved and the goals for which the corporation is governed.  

Our main stakeholders are our clients, the intermediary and the shareholders. Other stakeholders 
include the Supervisory Board, management and employees, regulators and the community at 
large.  

An important theme of corporate governance is to ensure the accountability of our employees, 
managers and directors. We have implemented mechanisms such as quarterly risk and compliance 
reporting, risk analyses and risk mapping that reduce or eliminate potential principal (shareholder) 
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– agent (Management Board) problems. The strengths of our organisation: people-oriented, 
solution-oriented, and passionate are the means by which these mechanisms are made 
operational. 

The so-called mitigated structure regime is applicable to Generali Nederland and its subsidiaries. 
Generali Nederland has a two tier board. As a consequence there is a distinction between the 
Management Board which is responsible for the operation of the company, and the Supervisory 
Board, which is responsible for the supervision of the Management Board.  

The Supervisory Board consists of four members of which two were nominated by Assicurazioni 
Generali S.p.A., and two (including the chairman) who are independent of the Generali group. The 
shareholder meeting decides on the appointment of the members. The Supervisory Board of 
Generali Nederland acts on behalf of Generali Leven (and Generali Schade) as these companies 
have received a dispensation from DNB from the requirement to have their own Supervisory Board. 
The Risk & Audit Committee is a committee of the Supervisory Board, responsible for financial and 
risk oversight, advising and proposing on decisions to be taken by the Supervisory Board. In line 
with Dutch legislation, the Risk & Audit Committee is especially involved in issues with respect to 
risk management, internal controls, financial reporting, internal audit, external auditors and the 
functioning of ICT. 

The Management Board of Generali Nederland comprises the directors of Generali Nederland NV 
and its insurance subsidiaries. Ultimate responsibility remains with the statutory directors. With 
respect to corporate governance, the statutory directors are responsible for: 

• defining a corporate strategy aimed at fulfilling the mission of the company,  

• developing an effective corporate governance system, and 

• implementing an effective risk management system. 

The Risk Committee is a meeting of the Management Board together with various departmental 
heads, responsible for determining the company’s risk profile and the related required economic 
capital levels.  

The Corporate Compliance Officer monitors compliance with the various guidelines and codes, and 
is assisted by a designated first line Compliance Officer within Generali Leven. The Internal Audit 
Department monitors and reports to the Risk & Audit Committee about the compliance function of 
Generali and the tests of design, of existence and of effectiveness of the risk control framework. 

Application of the Dutch Insurance Code 

Our corporate governance structure has been set up in line with the Dutch Corporate Governance 
Code, also known as the “Code Frijns.”  This corporate governance structure aims to mitigate 
conflicts of interest and moral hazard. It provides a solid foundation for the effective execution of 
business processes within clearly defined ethical and operational boundaries. 

Our corporate governance structure facilitates: 

• efficiency and effectiveness of corporate processes, 

• an effective risk management system, 

• reliable and trustworthy management and financial information, 

• safeguarding and aligning stakeholders’ interests, 

• safeguarding the company’s ability to meet its solvency capital requirements, 

• compliance with legislation, regulations and corporate guidelines, and 

• risk awareness. 

The Dutch Association of Insurers (Verbond van Verzekeraars) has published governance 
principles (known as the Dutch Insurance Code or Code Verzekeraars), subsequently referred to 
here as the ‘Code’. In 2015 it was determined that changes to law and the Insurers Code of 
Conduct had effectively made the Code obsolete. As of 1 January 2016 it has therefore been 
rescinded.  

Equal opportunities 

Dutch legislation aims to prevent uneven representation of men and women on boards. Generali 
believes in the power of diversity in its workforce and seeks to have an employee base which 
reflects the diversity in Dutch society. At present our Management Board and Supervisory Board 
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each have one female member. Our CEO is female, and approximately 32% of our management 
team is female. Gender is not the primary basis upon which appointments are made, but ensuring 
diversity of skills and quality of competencies is.  

Permanent education 

All members of the Board bear their own responsibility for permanent education. The chairman of 
the Supervisory Board takes the activities performed on permanent education by the Board 
members in their field of expertise into account when he, on a yearly basis, evaluates their 
performance. Board members also participate on a collective basis in education sessions prepared 
by internal or external experts.  

9 Remuneration policy 
Remuneration policy, tasks and responsibilities 
Under the statutory regulations of institutions such as DNB, we have established some basic 
principles for restrained remuneration policy. All legislative frameworks such as those formulated in 
the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, WFT) also apply to this policy. 
 
The company’s Management Board has adopted and implemented its own restrained remuneration 
policy which is in line with company objectives, and should remain commensurate with the socially 
acceptable standards for remuneration. That policy was approved by the Supervisory Board whose 
task it is to continually monitor compliance of the remuneration policy with the basic restrained 
remuneration principles, during its establishment, application and modification. The Supervisory 
Board must also apply these principles in situations in which Generali wishes to issue a variable 
payment that departs from standard Restrained Remuneration policy. In its internal supervisory 
activities, the Supervisory Board must take the long-term interests of all stakeholders into 
consideration. 
 
Remuneration policy objectives 
The Restrained Remuneration policy at Generali aims to establish a clear and simple remuneration 
structure that caters for the scope and set-up of Generali, as well as the nature, complexity and 
scope of its activities.  
 
The remuneration policy helps to promote the medium and long-term interests of the company 
without encouraging board or staff members to act in their own interests or to take risks 
incommensurate with the established strategy and risk profile. Neither does the remuneration 
policy include any incentives that are at odds with Generali’s obligation to act in the interests of its 
customers and other stakeholders, or that are in conflict with Generali’s other duty of care 
obligations. The remuneration policy is in agreement with the principles of effective risk 
management.  
The level and structure of the remuneration itself allow for the recruitment and retention of qualified 
and expert staff. In setting overall emoluments, the effect on pay ratios throughout the company is 
taken into consideration.   
 
The scope of the Restrained Remuneration policy  
The Restrained Remuneration policy covers all employees of Generali Nederland. As of 2012, 
variable remuneration will no longer be a part of the remuneration packages of these employees. 
 
A separate policy has been drawn up for Management Board members. Only the remuneration 
policy for Management Board members includes a variable component, as dictated by the ‘Bonus 
Scheme’ and ‘Long-term Incentive Plan’ of the Italian parent company Assicurazioni Generali SpA. 
Of course, the variable remuneration policy applicable to the Management Board must at all times 
be in agreement with local policy, to the extent that this is based on local laws and legislation. 
 
Variable remuneration applicable to the Management Board 
Payments of variable remuneration are subject to a clawback if it subsequently transpires that the 
positive result on which it was based is demonstrably attributable to improper conduct on the part 
of the staff member concerned. 
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Variable remuneration is paid out partly in cash and partly in financial instruments which change in 
in value in line with the shares of the company. The policy also states that variable remuneration is 
to be paid in stages. Fifty per cent of variable remuneration is paid upon allocation. The remaining 
50% is paid pro rata across a period of three years, assuming a three-year business cycle. Any 
financial instruments granted may not be redeemed for a period of one year after issue (i.e., a 
‘lock-up’ applies). The three-year business cycle is consistent with the company’s strategic plan, 
and as such is also in line with the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). 
 
The allocation and payment of variable remuneration is always subject to assessment or 
reassessment of the extent to which the applicable conditions have been met. To this end, the 
matter of assessments and reassessments of the allocation and payment of variable remuneration 
will be raised annually by the Supervisory Board and the Remuneration Committee. 
 
Special conditions apply to the payment of variable remuneration upon termination of employment. 
Only when the termination is due to death or occupational disability will the variable remuneration 
be paid directly and in full, without any penalties. In cases of retirement or redundancy, the 
postponed variable remuneration will remain intact and be determined and paid upon expiry of the 
phased payment period, with due observation of the retention period (the lock-up) and with the 
provisions related to reassessment remaining in full force. In cases of voluntary resignation or 
dismissal for urgent cause, all postponed variable remuneration will be forfeited without the right to 
compensation. In principle, this will also apply to dismissal by agreement. However, following a 
recommendation by the Remuneration Committee, the Supervisory Board may decide to honour 
instances of variable remuneration at its discretion, either wholly or in part. In such cases, retention 
periods will remain in force, as will any provisions related to reassessment.  
 
Variable payments may not exceed 20% of the annual (fixed) salary. 
 
Incidental limited variable remuneration for outstanding performance or effort 
A limited form of variable remuneration will remain available for other, non-board staff members of 
Generali Nederland on a strictly incidental basis, in cases of outstanding performance or effort that 
are not reflected in any periodic increase. ‘Outstanding’ refers to a level of performance that is a 
part of neither the job description nor the normal departmental activities. In addition to exceptional 
extreme effort, this may also include one-off ideas or activities that have a substantial positive 
impact on the company. Any such rewards may never exceed one month’s salary. 
 
As soon as there is cause, it will be determined whether the relevant staff are eligible for any such 
additional remuneration, which is therefore not an individual or acquired right. 

10 Risk management 
Generali Schade is deeply committed to the continuity and reliability of their businesses as well as 
the reputation of the international Generali brand by managing the risks that they encounter while 
conducting their businesses. The management of the company is well aware that taking risk is 
fundamental to the insurance business, and managing those risks has been and will remain 
important. 

Responsibility for risk management rests with the statutory directors of Generali Schade. The Chief 
Financial and Risk Officer of Generali Nederland acts in the same capacity for Generali Schade.  

All members of the organisation share the duty to pursue the continuity of Generali Schade and to 
protect the vested interest of their capital providers and policyholders. At each organisational level 
competences and duties are recognised. 

A more detailed description of the approach to risk management and descriptions of risks and risk 
mitigating measures is included in chapter 20 of the financial statements. 

Organization 
At the start of 2016, the European Union’s new Solvency II regime has come into full force. De 
Nederlandsche Bank, gradually, has been implementing the Solvency II regime ahead of this date. 
At the end of 2015, we consider the Solvency II regime to, effectively, have governed our industry 
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for at least a year. The Solvency II Directive requires insurance undertakings “have in place an 
effective risk-management system” (article 44). 

Our risk management is structured according to the “Three Lines of Defence” model. This model 
contributes to an effective risk-management system by defining: 

• functions that manage risks (risk owners) 

• functions that oversee risk (risk observers), and 

• functions that provide independent assurance (independent risk controllers). 

As the first line of defence, operational managers own and manage risks. They also are 
responsible for implementing corrective actions to address process and control deficiencies. As 
second line of defence, the risk management function, actuarial function and compliance function 
observe whether operational managers adhere to risk guidelines. The functions that make up the 
second line of defence ensure the first line of defence is properly designed, in place, and operating 
as intended. As third line of defence, the internal audit function independently assesses (audits) the 
effectiveness of the risk management system. Its independence from and objectivity towards the 
operational side of the organization  provide the Management Board with assurance. 

Supervision and reporting 
The effectiveness of our risk management system is enshrined in our structure of internal and 
external reports. We encourage all our staff to report any risks that they recognise to their 
operational managers. In turn, operational managers are required to report risk management 
issues to the risk function. Once a month, the Management Board discusses risk management 
issues during a dedicated “Risk Board” meeting. This meeting is attended by representatives of the 
functions that make up the second and third lines of defence. As second line of defence, the risk 
management function can address risk management issues to the Management Board at any time. 

The Supervisory Board supervises the Management Board and the general course of affairs of our 
company. It meets on a quarterly basis. The risk and audit committee advises the Supervisory 
Board on matters of risk management. The committee convenes in preparation for each meeting of 
the Supervisory Board. To this purpose, it invites representatives of the functions that make up the 
second and third lines of defence to attend. 

As part of our risk-management system, we annually conduct an “own risk and solvency 
assessment.” External auditors and regulators that are fully independent of the organization 
provide assurance to third parties. We report the outcome of our own risk and solvency 
assessment to De Nederlandsche Bank. Detailed quantitative risk measures are shared with De 
Nederlandsche Bank through the Solvency II quantitative reporting templates.  

Risk appetite and capital policy 
We set a target for coverage of the solvency capital requirement at 110%. At the same time, we set 
a target for coverage of the solvency capital requirement at 100% without applying the volatility 
adjustment (Solvency II Directive, art. 77d). Our risk tolerance is defined by the stricter of these 2 
targets. A breach of either of these thresholds invokes immediate action to restore the coverage of 
our solvency capital requirement. We will pay a dividend only if the coverage of the solvency capital 
requirement is at least 100% without applying convergence to an ultimate forward rate (Solvency II 
Directive, art. 77a). Our risk appetite is defined by this target. 

We set an “early signal” threshold for coverage of the solvency capital requirement at 125%. A 
breach of this threshold invokes actions aimed at preventing the coverage of the solvency capital 
requirement dropping below the target level. We use the “Standard Formula” defined in title I, 
chapter VI, section 4, subsection 2 of the Solvency II Directive to calculate the solvency capital 
requirement. 

Risk profile and management 
As an insurance company in a saturated market with a low risk environment there are a number of 
risks which are perceived to be most relevant. More details can be found in chapter 20.  

Operational risk 
Operational risk is ‘the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, personnel 
or systems, or from external events’ and can lie in information technology, information security, 
projects, product development, outsourcing, law, fraud and compliance (non-exhaustive). 
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Operational risks are evaluated by determining potential impact and probability of an event 
occurring.  

Insurance markets not only experience general changes in customer demands and a declined 
consumer confidence in financial markets but also in constantly evolving legislation, the changing 
relationships between providers of financial services and intermediaries and the economic crisis. 
These developments challenge management. 

Preparations for the implementation of Solvency II help us to focus on risk governance and culture, 
operational risk management and reporting. This renewed focus facilitates further identification, 
evaluation and remediation of most of the significant risks at both process and department level. 

Underwriting risk 
Underwriting risk is the risk of loss or of adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities, due to 
inadequate pricing and provisioning assumptions. For non-life products, we discern between 

• premium and reserve risk 

• catastrophe risk, and  

• lapse risk. 
 
Underwriting insurance policies is at the core of our business. We cannot avoid the risk of loss that, 
intrinsically, is tied to the nature of our business. However properly recognising, measuring and 
limiting these risks contributes to effective management of those risks. Among the risks that we 
want to limit are moral hazard, concentration and correlation.  
 
Moral hazard occurs when a customer who puts his posessions or health for which he seeks 
insurance at risk. One way to mitigate such risk is the application of an own risk threshold. 
Damages are only paid when they surpass this threshold. Correlation occurs when different insured 
objects or persons are exposed to the same risk. In a certain way, terrorism and war are sources of 
correlation. It is highly likely that if one insured person is exposed to this risk others also will be 
exposed to this risk. Alternatively, one could look at terrorism and war as causes for geographic 
risk concentration. We limit catastrophe risk by excluding perils such as acts of terrorism or war 
and natural disasters. 
Insurance policies, typically are entered into for a very limited amount of time. Because of these 
short-term contract boundaries, lapse risk will be limited. 
Income insurance products that involve recurring payments such as disability annuities have 
resemble life insurance products. The main sources of life underwriting risk are: 

• changes in the level, trend or volatility of mortality rates, resulting in increased longevity,  

• disability and morbidity rates, 

• expenses, 

• revision rates, 

• lapse rates, and 

• uncertainty of pricing and provisioning assumptions related to extreme or irregular events 
(catastrophes). 

 
We do not mitigate most of these risks. It is possible to hedge against inflation. However, 
instruments that provide a hedge against inflation, generally, hedge against changes in consumer 
prices. Unless consumer price inflation is highly correlated with expense inflation, such instruments 
provide little protection. Our insurance products are not  subject to revision risk. We do mitigate 
catastrophe risk through our re-insurance program. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss ‘arising from fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market 
prices of assets, liabilities and financial instruments.’ The main sources of market risk are: 

• changes in the term structure or volatility of interest rates, 

• changes in the level or volatility of 
o market prices for equity, 
o market prices for real estate,  
o credit spreads over the risk-free interest rate term structure, 
o currency exchange rates, and 
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• a lack of diversification in the asset portfolio or a large exposure to default risk by a single 
issuer of securities or a group of related issuers. 

A mismatch between cash inflows and cash outflows is inherent to many of our insurance products. 
Life savings insurance and income insurance products have long maturities. These maturities may 
extend beyond that of available financial instruments. If such is the case, we will need to re-invest 
proceeds from our investments. The customer may have bought this insurance against payment of 
a fixed, recurring premium. At the moment that we need to make such future investments, we might 
not be able to generate a sufficiently high yield on those investments.  

We have limited appetite for interest rate risk. For this reason, we try to match the interest rate 
sensitivity of our fixed income investments to that of our liabilities. The Solvency II regime applies a 
number of administrative adjustments (art. 77a - 77d) to observed interest rates. These 
administrative adjustments make it difficult to implement an effective hedge using financial 
instruments. 

We, primarily, invest in fixed income instruments. Government bonds issued by EMU member 
states make up most of this portfolio. Under the Solvency II regime, we are not required to hold 
solvency capital for spread risk on such government bonds. This does not mean that there are no 
differences in yields on bonds issued by individual countries. Nor does it mean that such 
differences are fixed. We have a high exposure to countries such as Germany, the Netherlands 
and Austria. At the same time, we have a low exposure to those countries that are referred to as 
“peripheral.” We also invest in corporate bonds as a source of higher yields.  

We mitigate spread risk by investing almost exclusively in investment grade bonds, using a 
principle of “second best” out of the credit ratings assigned by Moody’s, S&P and Fitch. This means 
that we ignore the highest credit rating if more than one rating agency rates the bond.  

We do not have a material exposure to foreign exchange rates.  

We strive to diversify our investments and avoid excessive exposure to any single issuer of 
financial instruments. In doing so, we limit the loss on our investments in a single issuer of financial 
instruments. In theory, it is possible that countries such as Germany or the Netherlands may 
default on their obligations. We consider this a very remote and also an irrelevant probability. We 
find this an irrelevant probability, because we expect a default by Germany or the Netherlands to 
have a catastrophic impact on the Dutch insurance market. Consequently, we do not consider any 
investment in German or Dutch government bonds a concentration of risk.  

The Solvency II regime does not apply a solvency capital requirement to financial instruments that 
are issued or guaranteed by European Union member states. This is the case for all debt 
denominated in local currency. Notwithstanding the lack of such a capital charge for other 
European Union member states, we are not willing to accept an unlimited exposure to all such 
countries. 

For non-government issuers, we have no appetite for any concentration risk. Consequently, we 
limit exposures to single issuers of financial instruments to the threshold levels defined in the 
Solvency II Delegated Acts (article 184).  

Counterparty default risk 
Counterparty default risk is the risk of loss ‘arising from unexpected default, or deterioration in the 
credit standing, of counterparties and debtors.’ For the purpose of identifying counterparty default 
risk, issuers of financial instruments are not considered counterparties. Typically, the relationship 
with such issuers of financial instruments is indirect through regulated markets. Risks stemming 
from the relationship with such issuers of financial instruments is classified as market risk.  

The main sources for counterparty default risk are uncollateralised: 

• deposits with banks, 

• securities lending arrangements, 

• claims against counterparties involved in derivative transactions, 

• claims against re-insurers, 

• loans to individual persons (including mortgage loans), and 

• debtors. 
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We deposit funds with banks in the normal course of business. These deposits, normally, will not 
be collateralised. We do business with a limited number of banks that have an “investment grade” 
financial strength rating. Deposits with banks provide us with the necessary operational liquidity. 
Normally, we will look for opportunities to invest excess liquidities. 

Financial reporting risk 
Financial reporting risk is the risk that quantitative and/or qualitative reporting does not accurately 
represent the financial condition of the company and consequently forms an unreliable basis for 
decision making. Causes of error can lie in the quality of data, a lack of effective internal controls 
over data gathering and transformation, a lack of requisite skills on the part of employees preparing 
or reviewing the material, insufficient resourcing, inadequate IT controls or inappropriate application 
of rules and regulations. 

Generali Schade applies a variety of internal policies set by the ultimate parent company to govern 
and monitor the quality of financial reporting processes. These policies have been drafted in 
compliance with requirements defined in the new Solvency II legislation, guidance issued by De 
Nederlandsche Bank, and the Dutch Insurers Code, amongst others. Furthermore a variety of 
programs have been initiated at Group level to ensure that the policies are in fact implemented at a 
local level, thereby addressing as best possible the risks identified in relation to these processes.  

Generali Schade reports to a variety of stakeholders using a variety of reporting standards. 
Financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), as is reporting to the ultimate parent company. As of this year reporting to supervisory 
bodies will be reported in accordance with Solvency II using the standard formula. Ledgers and 
reporting processes have been designed to facilitate the reconciliation between these various sets 
of rules, ensuring the completeness and accuracy of each set of reports. New reporting systems 
and tooling have been implemented in order to facilitate the controlled production of the growing 
number of financial reports.   

11 Compliance  
Compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal or regulatory fines, material financial losses or loss to 
reputation that a company may suffer as a result of not complying with laws or internal or external  
regulations applicable to its activities. Compliance risk includes:  

• The risk of legal or regulatory sanctions: e.g., loss of license or a fine from the regulator; 

• The risk of reputational damage; 

• The risk of litigation by any interested party; 

• The risk of other financial loss. 

Generali Nederland and its subsidiaries are deeply committed to the preservation of their reputation 
and integrity as well as the reputation of the international Generali Group by means of compliance 
with legislation and regulations governing their activities. Compliance does not only mean acting in 
line with regulations but it also includes maintaining our own high standards of integrity and 
customer centricity.  

The definition and mission of the compliance function is based on the strategy of Generali 
Nederland nv: “Compliance: Our “license to operate””. Two basic principles take precedence in 
everything that we do: ethical behaviour and placing the customers' interests first.  

The mission of the compliance function is: 

• To contribute in safeguarding the integrity and reputation of the entity; 

• To reinforce the entity’s compliance awareness, transparency and responsibility towards 
stakeholders; 

• To support a steady and persistent business operation and build a sustainable competitive 
advantage by integrating compliance risk management in the daily activities and strategic 
planning.  

Generali has appointed compliance officers who monitor our daily activities and advise us about 
potential compliance risks. The corporate compliance officer is embedded in the second line of 
defense having an independent position with the possibility to escalate matters to the Supervisory 
Board when needed. Furthermore Generali has appointed first line compliance officers who act as 
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sparring partner and have extensive knowledge about the activities in order to signal and address 
potential compliance risks, but also to advise and train personnel regarding compliance related 
topics.  

Whenever compliance breaches are identified, action plans are defined and monitored to either 
resolve the breach or explain why it is acceptable that a specific requirement is not adhered to. 

Corporate compliance is responsible for the annual compliance plan. This plan is agreed upon by 
the Risk Committee. In 2015 the main goals were met. 

 

12 Behavioural code and Corporate Social Responsibility 
The importance of implementing the essentials of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) in our 
core business is clear. The integration of policies concerning CSR-issues in the daily operation 
contributes to a positive financial and economical long term development. These policies serve to 
raise employee awareness and encourage energy saving, paper reduction (by for example 
standard double-sided printing), recycling and separate waste disposal. The policies are 
continuously updated in line with new developments which offer possibilities to improve those 
policies. We support our community by donating funds and staff time to several community causes 
and stimulate innovation by means of a prize for innovation in industry and another for the best 
thesis on innovation in the financial sector. Our own innovation is stimulated by way of a specific 
project designed to improve the way in which we communicate with our customers. Resolving 
social issues by developing new products (e.g. sick leave, disability) is another way in which we try 
to take responsibility concerning the well-being of the society. Encouraging eco-compatible 
behaviour in suppliers and clients is another; we take a critical look at suppliers who do not live up 
to environmental protection laws. 

As an institutional investor we maintain our own principles of responsible investment. Generali 
Leven as part of Generali Group adheres to the Generali Group’s ethical guidelines and the Dutch 
cluster munition regulation to all investments for its own account. 

 

Diemen, 26 April 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

Jan van Leer       Annette Mosman   
   
Statutory Director     Statutory Director  
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Financial statements 
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Balance sheet 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Assets (x €1.000) 

Acct. 

Policy Note 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014

 Investments in associates 2.7.1 3.1 0 0

 Loans and receivables  2.7.3 3.3 3.618 1.112

 Available-for-sale financial assets  2.7.2 3.2 240.068 244.674

 Reinsurance assets 2.8 4 58.041 55.354

 Deferred tax assets 2.14 9 1.366 1.134

 Other assets 2.9 5 31.094 27.481

 Cash and cash equivalents 2.10 6 10.811 17.022

 Total assets 344.998 346.777              

 Liabilities (x €1.000) 

Acct. 

Policy Note 31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2014

 Equity 2.11 7

 Paid-up and called capital 7.1 1.361 1.361

 Share premium reserve 7.2 7.803 7.803

 Revaluation reserve 7.3 15.529 19.174

 Retained earnings 7.4 40.316 39.003

 Profit/loss for the year 1.856 4.463

 Total equity 66.865 71.805                

 Liabilities 

 Insurance contract liabilities 2.12 8 256.904 255.767

 Deferred tax liabilities 2.14 9 5.176 6.391

 Other payables 2.15 10 16.053 12.814

 Total liabilities 278.133 274.972              

 Total liabilities and equity 344.998 346.777              
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Income statement 

 

 

 

  

(x €1.000)

Acct. 

Policy

Note 2015 2014

Income 2.17

Gross premiums written 246.703 246.210

Outward reinsurance premiums -44.107 -42.317

Net premiums written 202.596      203.893        

Gross increase/decrease in provision for unearned premiums -6.857 -2.660

Increase/decrease in reinsurers' share of unearned premiums 6.025 4.931

Net increase/decrease in provision for unearned premiums -832           2.271           

Net premiums earned 12 201.764      206.164        

Income from associates 0 -353

Income from investments 6.579 7.597

Investment expenses -266 -280

Income from investments 13 6.313          6.964           

Other operating income 14 230 415

Total income 208.307      213.543        

Expenses 2.18

Gross claims and benefits paid -164.514 -180.014

Increase/decrease in provisions for insurance liabilities 5.721 18.158

Reinsurers’ share 21.508 19.985

Net claims and benefits paid 15 -137.285     -141.871       

Fees and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 16 -51.989 -50.678

Other operating expenses 17 -16.558 -14.926

Total expenses -205.832     -207.475       

Profit/loss before tax 2.475          6.068           

Tax 18 -619 -1.605

Net profit/loss 1.856          4.463           

Profit/loss attributable to:

- the parent 1.856          4.463           
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Statement of comprehensive income 

 

 

 

(€ x 1.000)

Acct. 

Policy

Notes 2015 2014

Profit/loss of the year 1.856          4.463           

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or 

loss in subsequent periods:

Net unrealised gains and losses on available-for-sale assets -4.861             8.339               

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 1.215             -2.295               

Other comprehensive income for the year to be 

reclassified to profit or loss, net of tax -3.646          6.044           

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -1.790          10.507          

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

- the parent -1.790          10.507          
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Statement of changes in equity 
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Balance as at 31 December 2013 1.361    7.803    13.130   47.732   -8.729    61.297   

Unrealised revaluations, net of tax -           -           6.045    -           -           6.045    

Other changes -           -           -           -           -           -           

Net gains and losses not 

recognised in income statement -           -           6.045    -           -           6.045    

Net profit 2014 -           -           -           -           4.463    4.463    

Total income and expenses -           -           6.045    -           4.463    10.508   

Dividend paid -           -           -           -           -           -           

Transfer of net profit 2013 -           -           -           -8.729    8.729    -           

Balance as at 31 December 2014 1.361    7.803    19.175   39.003   4.463    71.805   

Unrealised revaluations, net of tax -           -           -3.646    -           -3.646    

Other changes -           -           -           -           -           -           

Net gains and losses not 

recognised in income statement -           -           -3.646    -           -           -3.646    

Net profit 2015 -           -           -           -           1.856    1.856    

Total income and expenses -           -           -3.646    -           1.856    -1.790    

Dividend paid -           -           -           -3.150    -           -3.150    

Transfer of net profit 2014 -           -           4.463    -4.463    -           

Balance as at 31 December 2015 1.361    7.803    15.529   40.316   1.856    66.865   



Generali Schade Annual Report 2015        Page 18 of 76 

Cash flow statement 

  

(x €1.000) 2015 2014

Cash flow from operating activities

Net profit 1.856 4.463

Adjustments for items affecting profit without 

cashflow

Fair value adjustments via income statement 971 -3.137

Amortisation of premium/discount on bonds 237 559

Result on associated companies -                 353

Total 1.208 -2.225         

Adjustments for carrying value on balance 

Increase/decrease in technical provision 1.137 -15.498

Increase/decrease in reinsurers’ share of 

technical provisions -4.394 -444

Increase/decrease in provisions

Decrease of depots reinsurance 1.075 -3.748

Decrease from direct insurance 2.333 -1.015

Increase/decrease of short term debts -168 2.108

Increase/decrease in accounts receivable and 

payable from direct insurance and reinsurance 

activities -4.405 4.958

Increase/decrease of deferred liabilities -1.215 2.015

Increase/decrease of deferred assets -232 -32

Increase/decrease in accrued interest -8 130

Total -5.877         -11.526       

Cashflows for operational items without impact 

on result

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets -9.636 -22.726

Disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 9.388 35.777

Decrease of other provisions -                 -                 

Total -248 13.051        

Net cash flow from operating activities -3061 3.763          

Cash flow from financing activities

Dividend paid -3.150 -                 

Net cash flow from financing activities -3.150 -                 

Increase/decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents during the year -6.211 3.763          
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The following cash flows are included in the cash flow from operating activities: 

 

 

The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect method. Cash flows from 
investments are classified as cash flows from operating activities. 

 

 

(x €1.000) 2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 17.022 13.259

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash 

equivalents -6.211 3.763

Cash and cash equivalents per 31 

December 10.811 17.022

(x €1.000) 2015 2014

Interest received 6.455          7.179          

Interest paid 4                4                

Dividend received 75              27              

Dividend paid -                 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1 The company and the financial statements 
Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv is a Dutch public limited company, domiciled in the 
Netherlands. The address of its registered office is Diemerhof 42, 1112 XN Diemen. The 
company’s official seat is in Amsterdam. Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv 
(hereinafter referred to as Generali Schade) is engaged in non-life insurance. 

Generali Nederland nv (hereinafter referred to as Generali Nederland), headquartered in Diemen, 
is the direct holder of the entire share capital of Generali Schade. The ultimate parent, 
Assicurazioni Generali S.p.A. (hereinafter referred to as Generali Group), is headquartered in 
Trieste, Italy. 

Generali Nederland has the formal right to amend the financial statements at any time before 
their final approval. 

2 Significant accounting policies 
The principal policies for the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 
policies apply to Generali Schade and all other companies belonging to Generali Schade, unless 
stated otherwise.  

2.1 Basis for preparation 

The financial statements of Generali Schade have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as 
endorsed by the European Union. Though Generali Schade is not a listed company, it has 
decided to prepare its financial statements according to the standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board, in accordance with article 2:362 section 8 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

All amounts in these financial statements are presented in thousands of euros, unless stated 
otherwise. The balance sheet is, in general terms, presented in order of increasing liquidity. 
Determination as current or non-current in the notes to the accounts is based on whether an item 
is expected to mature within 12 months of balance sheet date or thereafter. 

On 1 January 2015, the subsidiary NV Schadeverzekering maatschappij De Nederlanden van Nu 
merged with Generali Schade. Since Generali Schade already owned 100% of the shares of 
Nederlanden van Nu, this merger has no financial impact on the financial statements of Generali 
Schade. By applying the pooling of interest method (see note 2.4.1), Generali Schade presents 
only individual financial statements starting from 2015. 

2.2 Changes to accounting standards and presentation 

Accounting policies have been applied in the same manner as in 2014 and no changes in 
presentation have been made, except as noted in the following sub-paragraphs. 

2.2.1 New accounting standards applied in 2015 

No standards or interpretations with a significant effect on the financial statements have been 
applied by Generali Schade for the first time in 2015. 

2.2.2 New accounting standards with little or no effect 

The following amendments to accounting standards have become effective in 2015 but are not 
relevant to Generali Schade’s operations, or have little or no effect on the financial statements of 
the company:  

• The amendments to IAS 19 (2011), ‘Employee Benefits’, permit contributions that are 
independent of the number of years of service to be recognised as a reduction in the service 
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cost in the period in which the service is rendered, instead of allocating the contribution to 
periods of service. The amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since 
the current accounting treatment is already in line with the amendments. 

• Improvements to IFRS project is an annual process that the IASB has adopted to deal with 
non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS. The 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 
Improvements consist of various changes, of which the most important are: 

o IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (fair value of short-term receivables and payables); 

o IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible Assets’ (revaluation 
method); 

o IAS 40, ‘Investment Property’ (interrelationship between IFRS 3 and IAS 40). 

2.2.3 Changes to accounting standards effective in future periods 

The following changes to accounting standards and interpretations published in 2015 or earlier 
have not yet been early adopted and are expected to be applied in future periods: 

• In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ that replaces 
IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and all previous versions of 
IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments 
project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. IFRS 9 is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early application 
permitted. Except for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providing 
comparative information is not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are 
generally applied prospectively, with some limited exceptions. The company plans to adopt 
the new standard on the required effective date of the new IFRS 4, ‘Insurance Contracts’, as 
proposed by the IASB in December 2015, but not later than 1 January 2021. The correlation 
between the new IFRS 4 and IFRS 9 needs to be assessed in detail before any final 
conclusions can be drawn regarding the impact of either standard. On the basis of what we 
now know, the company expects no significant impact on its balance sheet and equity except 
possibly for the effect of applying the impairment requirements of IFRS 9. The company 
expects a higher loss allowance resulting in a negative impact on equity and will perform a 
detailed assessment in the future to determine the extent. 

o Classification and measurement: The company does not expect a significant impact on its 
balance sheet or equity on applying the classification and measurement requirements of 
IFRS 9. It expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets currently held at 
fair value. Quoted equity shares currently held as available-for-sale with gains and losses 
recorded in OCI are expected to be measured at fair value through profit or loss instead, 
which will increase volatility in recorded profit or loss. The AFS reserve currently in 
accumulated OCI will be reclassified to opening retained earnings. Debt securities are 
expected to be measured at fair value through OCI under IFRS 9 as the company 
expects not only to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows but also to sell a 
significant amount on a relatively frequent basis. Loans as well as trade receivables are 
held to collect contractual cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows 
representing solely payments of principal and interest. Thus, the company expects that 
these will continue to be measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9. However, the 
company will analyse the contractual cash flow characteristics of those instruments in 
more detail before concluding whether all those instruments meet the criteria for 
amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9.  

o Impairment: IFRS 9 requires the company to record expected credit losses on all of its 
debt securities, loans and trade receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The 
company expects to apply the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses on 
all trade receivables. The company expects a significant impact on its equity due to the 
unsecured nature of its loans and receivables, but it will need to perform a more detailed 
analysis which considers all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-
looking elements to determine the extent of the impact. 
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o Hedge accounting: The company currently applies no hedge accounting. The company 
does not expect to apply hedge accounting under IFRS 9. 

The following accounting changes are not yet effective and are currently not expected to have a 
significant impact on Generali Schade’s financial statements. All these accounting changes will 
be effective from 1 January 2016, unless stated otherwise. 

• The amendments of IFRS 10,’Consolidated Financial Statements’, IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of 
Interests in Other Entities’ and IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ address 
issues that have arisen in applying the investment entities exception under IFRS 10: 
o The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exemption from presenting consolidated 

financial statements applies to a parent entity that is a subsidiary of an investment entity, 
when the investment entity measures all of its subsidiaries at fair value. 

o Furthermore, the amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that only a subsidiary of an investment 
entity that is not an investment entity itself and that provides support services to the 
investment entity is consolidated. All other subsidiaries of an investment entity are 
measured at fair value. 

o The amendments to IAS 28 allow the investor, when applying the equity method, to retain 
the fair value measurement applied by the investment entity associate or joint venture to 
its interests in subsidiaries. 

The amendments have no impact on the company’s financial statements. 

• The amendments of IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, and IAS 28, ‘Investments 
in Associates and Joint Ventures’, address the acknowledged inconsistency between the 
requirements in IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in dealing with the loss of control of a subsidiary that is 
contributed to an associate or a joint venture. The amendments clarify that an investor 
recognises a full gain or loss on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business, 
as defined in IFRS 3, between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The 
amendments have no impact on the financial statements.  

• The amendments of IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’, require an entity acquiring an interest in a 
joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business to apply, to 
the extent of its share, all of the business combination accounting in IFRS 3, ‘Business 
Combinations’, and other IFRSs, that do not conflict with the requirements of IFRS 11, 
including their required disclosures. The amendments will have no impact on the financial 
statements, since the company will not acquire an interest in a joint operation. 

• IFRS 14, ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’, allows rate-regulated entities to continue 
recognising regulatory deferral accounts in connection with their first-time adoption of IFRS. 
Existing IFRS preparers are prohibited to use this standard. Therefore, the new standard will 
not impact the financial statements.  

• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, replaces all existing revenue 
requirements in IFRS and applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers. It also 
provides a model for the recognition and measurement of sales of some non-financial assets 
including disposals of property, equipment and intangible assets. The following contracts with 
customers are out of scope of this standard: leases, insurance contracts and financial 
instruments (including subsidiaries, associates and join arrangements). Therefore, the new 
standard has no significant impact on the financial statements. The new standard is effective 
from 1 January 2017. 

• The amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’, clarify, rather than 
significantly change, existing IAS 1 requirements. The amendments clarify: 

o The materiality requirements in IAS 1. 

o That specific line items in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI and the statement of 
financial position may be disaggregated. 

o That entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes to financial 
statements. 
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o That the share of OCI of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method must be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified between 
those items that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. 

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply when additional subtotals 
are presented in the statement of financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and 
OCI. The amended IFRS will have no significant impact on the company’s financial 
statements. 

• The amendments of IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 38, ‘Intangible Assets’, 
clarify the principle that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits that are generated 
from operating a business (of which the asset is part) rather than the economic benefits that 
are consumed through use of the asset. As a result, the ratio of revenue generated to total 
revenue expected to be generated cannot be used to depreciate property, plant and 
equipment and may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets. 
The amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since the company 
depreciates property on a straight line basis over its useful life. 

• The amendments to IAS 16, ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ and IAS 41, ‘Agriculture’, 
change the scope of IAS 16 to include biological assets that meet the definition of bearer 
plants. Agricultural produce growing on bearer plants will remain within the scope of IAS 41. 
The amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since the company does 
not hold any bearer plants. 

• The amendments to IAS 27, ‘Separate Financial Statements’, allow an entity to account for 
subsidiaries and associates using the equity method in the entity’s separate statements. The 
amendments will have no impact on the financial statements, since the company presents 
only individual financial statements.  

• Improvements to IFRS project is an annual process that the IASB has adopted to deal with 
non-urgent but necessary amendments to IFRS. The 2012-2014 Improvements consist of 
various changes, of which the most important is: 

o IAS 19, ‘Employee Benefits’ (discount rate: regional market issue). 

2.3 Use of estimates 

Generali Schade makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Insurance liabilities, in particular, are subject to estimates and assumptions. Although these 
estimates and assumptions in respect of current facts, events and, to a certain extent, future 
events and actions are made to the best of the management’s knowledge, the actual results 
could ultimately vary, possibly significantly, from the estimates. 

2.3.1 Insurance contracts 

Estimates used to determine insurance liabilities, future benefit payments and premiums include: 

• the development of claims amounts, including morbidity, recovery and mortality rates for 
bodily injury and disability covers; 

• future market interest levels/investment returns; 

• the backlog in accounting for Bourse is 1 month and for Underwriting Agents is 2 months. If 
material changes arise from the actual figures these changes are taken into account in the 
figures; 

• credit risk relating to reinsurers.   
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The estimates which are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, are continuously 
evaluated. The valuation of the non-life insurance liabilities is tested for adequacy annually. 

Significant delays can occur in the notification and/or settlement of claims and a substantial 
measure of experience and judgment is involved in assessing outstanding liabilities, the ultimate 
cost of which cannot be known with complete certainty at the balance sheet date. The provisions 
for non-life insurance liabilities are based on information available at year-end; however, it is 
inherent in the nature of the business written that the ultimate liabilities may vary as a result of 
subsequent developments. Generali Schade uses actuarial methods to estimate the ultimate cost 
of claims excluding subsequent developments. These methods require the use of various 
assumptions. The two methods generally used for risks other than disability are the Chain-Ladder 
and Boootstrapmethods.  

Provisions for outstanding claims are established to cover the expected ultimate liability for losses 
and loss adjustment expenses in respect of claims that have already occurred, as well as claims 
incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) and estimated unallocated claims expenses. The claim 
handling provision is 5% of the gross provision including IBNR per product. 

Outstanding claims provisions are based on estimates of future claim payments except for 
branches as AOV B, WAO and WIA. The provision for disability risks is calculated on the basis of 
AOV2000 under the assumption of a 3% actuarial interest rate. The best estimate calculation of 
disability, used for the liability adequacy test, is calculated on the basis of AOV2008 with a 
discount factor based on the interest curve published by DNB. A risk margin based on the 
stresses published in the Solvency II methodology is also taken into account. AOV2000 is more 
conservative than AOV2008. The mortality rate is based on GBM 00-05. The same model is used 
for AOV, WAO and WIA, the difference are the rates that are used : 

• AOV – AOV 2008 

• WIA – WIA 2006 

• WAO – WAO1999 

The best estimate of the outstanding claims provisions are based on known facts at the date of 
estimation, including statistics on the development of claim payments, incurred losses, average 
costs per claim and number of similar claims. Historical loss experience is mainly analysed by 
accident period. Loss experience is separately analysed for each segment, such as coverage, 
area, etc. Certain lines of business are also further analysed by claim type or type of coverage.  

Estimations of outstanding claims are refined on a continuous basis as part of a regular ongoing 
process as loss experience develops, losses are settled and further losses are reported. The 
outstanding expected ultimate claims cost is estimated using a variety of generally accepted 
actuarial and statistical projection techniques. These techniques predict the development of claim 
payments, incurred losses, average claims cost and claim numbers for each year based on the 
observed development of prior years. 

2.3.2 Fair value of investments 

Not all instruments that Generali Schade invests in are traded in active markets, so some fair 
values have to be determined by using valuation techniques. All models are validated and 
calibrated before use. A variety of assumptions are required and these can substantially affect the 
fair value recognised or disclosed of these investments. 

2.3.3 Estimates relating to impairment testing 

Impairment evaluation is a complex process that inherently involves judgments and uncertainties 
that may have a significant impact on Generali Schade’s financial statements. Impairments are 
especially relevant in the following areas: available-for-sale (AFS) financial  assets, reinsurance 
assets and goodwill (if any). 

The identification of impairment is an inherently uncertain process involving various assumptions 
and factors, including financial condition of the counterparty, expected future cash flows, 
statistical loss data, discount rates, observable market prices, etc. Estimates and assumptions 
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are based on management’s judgment and other information available prior to the issuance of the 
financial statements. Materially different results can occur as circumstances change and 
additional information becomes known. 

2.4 Consolidation principles 

Generali Schade consolidates all entities over which it has control. It is assumed that Generali 
Schade has control when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., 
when it holds, or has the power to hold, more than 50% of the voting power of the investee). 

2.4.1 Subsidiaries 

A subsidiary is an entity over which Generali Schade has control. Subsidiaries are consolidated 
from the date on which effective control is transferred to Generali Schade and are no longer 
consolidated from the date that control is released. Intercompany transactions, balances and 
gains and losses on transactions between the companies are eliminated. 

The purchase method is used for the acquisition of subsidiaries by Generali Schade, not being 
entities under common control. The cost of the business acquisition is the fair value of the 
consideration paid. Identifiable assets and (possibly contingent) liabilities acquired in a business 
combination are measured upon initial recognition at fair value as at the date of acquisition. A 
positive difference between the consideration paid and Generali Schade’s interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets and (contingent) liabilities is recognised as goodwill. Any negative 
difference, after careful reconsideration of all elements of the transactions and the recognised 
amounts, is accounted for in profit or loss. 

The pooling of interest method is used for the acquisition of entities under common control. The 
assets and liabilities of the combining entities are reflected at their carrying amounts, without 
adjustments for fair value or recognising any ‘new’ goodwill. The income statement and 
comparatives are presented as if the entities had always been combined, but not before the 
moment common control was established. 

Generali Schade currently holds no investments in subsidiaries. 

2.4.2 Associates 

An associate is an entity over which Generali Schade has significant influence but not control. It is 
assumed, unless demonstrated otherwise, that Generali Schade has significant influence when it 
holds, or has the power to hold, more than 20% but less than 50% of the voting power of the 
investee. 

Investments in associates are measured using the equity method. According to this method, the 
amount paid for the investment in the associate, including goodwill, adjusted for any post-
acquisition change in Generali Schade’s share of net assets of the investee, is included in the 
consolidated balance sheet as an asset. Generali Schade’s share in the post-acquisition profit or 
loss of the associate is included in the income statement. Its share in any post-acquisition change 
directly recognised in the investee’s equity is recognised directly in Generali Schade’s equity. Use 
of the equity method is discontinued from the date that Generali Schade ceases to have 
significant influence over an associate. 

If Generali Schade’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds the associate’s carrying 
amount, it discontinues recognising its share of further losses unless Generali Schade has 
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

Intercompany transactions and positions are eliminated to the extent of Generali Schade’s 
interest in the associate. 
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2.5 Foreign currency 

2.5.1 Functional and presentation currency 

The functional currency of Generali Schade is euro (€), the primary economic environment in 
which Generali Schade operates being the Netherlands. The presentation currency is also euro. 
Numbers in the financial statements are presented in thousands of euros unless stated otherwise. 

2.5.2 Transactions and balances 

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies (of which there is only a limited number) are 
translated into euro using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the 
exchange rates at balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities, are reported as part of the fair 
value gain or loss.  

2.6 Product classification 

Generali Schade distinguishes between insurance contracts and investment contracts in 
accordance with the product classification requirements set out in IFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’. 
Products that contain significant insurance risks are insurance contracts. Significant insurance 
risk is deemed to exist if a payment upon the occurrence of an insured event is likely to be at 
least 10% higher than the payment which would be made if the insured event does not occur. Any 
product not meeting these criteria is classified as an investment product.  

2.7 Investments 

Generali Schade classifies its investments into the following categories: investment in associates, 
available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets and loans and receivables. The classification depends 
upon the intention of management in acquiring the investment. There is no managerial distinction 
between the categories mentioned and classes of financial instruments recognised; all 
disclosures in these financial statements therefore use the classification mentioned above. 

For all investments fair value is disclosed. All financial assets are accounted for at settlement 
date. 

Financial assets (AFS financial assets and loans and receivables) are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from them have expired or have been transferred to a third party and 
Generali Schade has also transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  

2.7.1 Investments in associates 

This category comprises investments in associates. These investments are accounted for using 
the equity method (see also note 2.4.2). 

Investments in associates are reviewed each year to determine whether there is an indication of 
impairment. In the event of impairment, cash flow models are used to determine the fair value of 
the investment. If the investment’s fair value is lower than its carrying amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised in the income statement under Investment income. 

2.7.2 Available-for-sale financial assets  

This category includes unlisted shares, listed debentures and listed zero bonds. 

Regular-way purchases and sales of AFS securities are recognised at trade date. AFS assets are 
accounted for at fair value as at the balance sheet date. The fair value of instruments traded in 
active markets is determined using the quoted price at the reporting date. Cash flow models are 
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used to determine the fair value of shares that are not actively traded. These shares are 
measured at cost if their fair value cannot be measured reliably (see note 3.4). 

Unrealised profits and losses on AFS assets are recognised in the revaluation reserve until the 
financial assets are derecognised. Any profit or loss realised on the sale, including the amount 
recognised in the revaluation reserve, is recognised in the income statement. Exchange rate 
gains and losses on equities are recognised in the revaluation reserve whereas exchange 
differences on bonds, being monetary items, are recognised in the income statement. 

Generali Schade assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that 
an AFS instrument is impaired. In the case of equity instruments classified as AFS, this means a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost. AFS debt securities 
are impaired if there is objective evidence that the future cash flows are unlikely to be fully 
received. All impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss, including any amount previously 
recognised in the revaluation reserve. The cumulative loss, measured as the difference between 
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, is removed from equity and recognised in the 
income statement.  

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale 
increases and the increase can be related to a subsequent event, the impairment is reversed 
through the income statement. Impairments on equities, including investment fund units, cannot 
be reversed. 

2.7.3 Loans and receivables 

This category comprises non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not listed in an active market, such as private loans and deposits with reinsurers.  

Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. This is the amount at which the financial 
asset is measured at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and 
the maturity amount, and minus any impairment losses. For the initial recognition as well as the 
determination of the effective interest rate, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of the financial asset are taken into account. 

2.7.4 Impairment of debt instruments 

Generali Schade assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that 
bonds or loans are impaired. If there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of a loss 
event that impacts estimated future cash flows of the assets and the effects can be reliably 
estimated, the bonds or loans are impaired.  

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data about one or more of the following 
events: 

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; 

• a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in payments; 

• it becoming probable that the issuer or debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; 

• the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; 
or  

• indications that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows since the 
initial recognition of the loans portfolio, although the decrease cannot yet be linked to 
individual contracts, including: 

- adverse changes in the payment status of issuers of debt held by Generali Schade;  

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets held 
by Generali Schade. 

Generali Schade first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists for loans that are 
individually significant. Generali Schade then carries out a ‘collective’ credit risk assessment at 



Generali Schade Annual Report 2015        Page 28 of 76 

portfolio level. Loans for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised, are not 
included in the collective assessment of impairment.  

When loans and receivables which are carried at amortised cost are impaired, the loss is the 
difference between the loan’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset 
may be reduced through the use of an allowance account for practical reasons. The impairment 
loss is recognised in the income statement. If the impaired loan has a variable interest rate, the 
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined 
under the contract.  

In a subsequent period, the impairment loss might (partly) reverse if the recovery is related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment. Such a reversal is recognised in the 
income statement. 

2.8 Reinsurance assets 

This category comprises the reinsurers’ share of technical provisions and reinsurance 
receivables. The reinsurers’ share of technical provisions is measured using the same principles 
and methods applicable to the direct insurance contracts (see note 2.12). 

Credit risk for reinsurance assets is evaluated each reporting date. If objective evidence of 
impairment exists, a reinsurance asset is impaired and the loss is recognised in profit or loss.  

2.9 Other assets 

Other assets consist of direct insurance receivables, other receivables and accrued income. The 
latter includes interest accrued on investments. 

Receivables are measured at cost. Only in rare cases does cost differ significantly from amortised 
cost. Given the short term nature of most receivables, the fair value is generally close to book 
value.  

A provision for doubtful debts has been formed for credit losses. Any additions to or releases from 
this provision are recognised as Other expenses. 

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term highly liquid 
investments with a maturity date within three months and subject to insignificant changes in fair 
value. Cash and cash equivalents are accounted for at fair value.  

2.11 Shareholders’ equity 

Shares are classified as shareholders’ equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other 
assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of equity instruments are shown in 
equity as a deduction from the proceeds, net of tax. Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issue of equity instruments as consideration for the acquisition of a business are included in the 
cost of acquisition. 

Paid-up and called capital includes ordinary shares only.  

Share premium reserve comprises the reserve for premiums received on the issue of shares.  

The revaluation reserve contains the unrealised gains and losses on AFS investments less 
deferred tax. Upon impairment unrealised losses are recognised in the income statement.  

Retained earnings comprise the retained earnings and reserves required by law and the articles 
of association. 
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Profit or loss for the period represents the profit or loss of Generali Schade for the reporting 
period.  

Proposed dividend payments for this period (refer to Other Information, note 24) are not 
recognised as a liability until the Annual General Meeting of shareholders formally declares such 
a dividend. 

2.12 Insurance contract liabilities 

2.12.1 Unearned premiums, unexpired risk and transport fund liabilities 

Premiums are generally recognised as revenue over the period of the risk cover. Premiums 
relating to future periods are deferred, through the income statement, as a provision for unearned 
premiums, net of related deferred commissions. 

The provision for unearned premiums from the provincial business and VVS (underwriting agents) 
is set up on the basis of the exact renewal dates. The provision for other insurance (brokers and 
bourse) is determined using a method known as the 1/8 system, taking account of multi years 
contracts. 

The provision for the transport industry (with the exception of the bourse marine underwriting) is 
measured using a method known as the funds system and amounts to 4%, 5%, 10%, 25% and 
80% of the net annual premiums for own account in the underwriting years from 2010 to 2015 
respectively (2014: from 2009 to 2014). As an extra measure of security, the provision for 
outstanding claims includes, in respect of funds, an extra provision for bourse marine 
underwriting for the underwriting years as from 2010 (2012: from 2009). 

In the event of unexpired risk or premium deficiencies, unearned premiums might not be sufficient 
to cover future losses under the contract. In that case an additional liability is recognised through 
profit or loss. An aging provision is recognised for disability insurance on the basis that expected 
future disability claims will develop differently from contractual risk premiums. 

2.12.2 Claims 

The provision for claims incurred is set up for not yet adjusted losses on the basis of best 
estimates and includes claims not yet received on the basis of previous claims experience 
(including bourse marine underwriting). The provision takes account of subrogation and transfer 
of title in insured assets. A flat-rate provision is maintained for the future costs of settling 
outstanding claims as at the balance sheet date. This provision is set up to 5% of the total 
provision for outstanding claims to be settled in the future under own administration. This 
percentage is based on the expected claim settlement costs in the future under own 
administration in relation to the related gross provision for claims (including IBNR). 

The provision for individual disability and WIA/WGA benefits equals the present value of the 
expected claims payments taking account of terms and waiting periods, future indexation, 
benefits rates as well as recovery probabilities and mortality rates calculated on the basis of a 3% 
discount rate.  

2.12.3 IBNR 

The IBNR for WIA/WGA is based on the premium paid and is reserved as an IBNR provision with 
the exception of contracts with own risk (WGA ER) in which case 150% of the premium is set 
aside as IBNR. Commencing from the year in which claims may first be made on the basis of this 
coverage, one-third of the IBNR is released each year to earnings. This means that after three 
years the IBNR provision has been complete released.  

The IBNR for contracts entered into via the underwriting agents is estimated at 5% for short tail 
business and 7% of the total gross provision for long tail business. For provincial contracts 5% of 
the claims expense for the past year is used, and for long tail business 7% of the claims expense.  

 

2.12.4 Liability Adequacy Test 



Generali Schade Annual Report 2015        Page 30 of 76 

Under IFRS 4 ’Insurance Contracts’ a liability adequacy test (LAT) must be conducted on the 
provision for non-life insurance liabilities at each reporting date. The main assumption is that the 
settlement pattern for claims within the same industry can be predicted on the basis of past 
settlement patterns. If the provision proves inadequate, the shortfall is recognised through profit 
or loss by increasing the liability. 

For financial statement reporting purposes Generali Schade performs LAT testing based on the 
Best Estimate Provision Methodology. This methodology provides a format for estimating the 
liabilities at fair value. 

Methodology 

The Fair Value of Liabilities is estimated by projecting the expected cash flows. The Best 
Estimate Liability (BEL) is calculated by: 

• using a range of standard actuarial claims projection techniques, such as Chain Ladder 
method. The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a company’s past claims 
development experience can be used to project future claims development and hence 
ultimate claims costs. As such, these methods extrapolate the development of paid and 
incurred losses, average costs per claim and number of claims based on the observed 
development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is 
mainly analysed by accident years, but can also be further analysed by geographical area, as 
well as by significant business lines and claim types. 

• AOV B is calculated with a cash flow projection with the AOV2008 model 

• WIA is calculated with a cash flow projection with the WIA2006 model 

• WAO is calculated with a cash flow projection with the WAO1999 model 

• For discounting the future cash flows, the nominal 'Rentetermijnstructuur' (RTS) of the DNB is 
used. 

Results and Developments 

Both at the end of the previous reporting year as at the end of the reporting year the Liability 
Adequacy Test demonstrated adequate book values of the insurance liabilities. The surplus at 
year end decreased substantial. Important developments were:  

• Merger with Nederlanden van Nu(NvN). NvN produced are large negative reserve adequacy 
on the claim provision in 2014 of 5.5 million 

• Models within the MMD group had major adjustments due to negative run-off results in the 
last few years 

• A new proces was implemented, where the data is imported in ResQ (instead of typing by 
hand). This caused some changes in older years, because corrections were not always taken 
into account 

• Improvement of the surplus of disability as results of increased recovery rates 

• Change in cots allocation causes decrease in reserve adequacy for Health 

The test is conducted over 97.9% of our portfolio. The other 2.1% is tested qualitatively and has 
also been assessed as adequate.  

2.13 Other provisions 

In accordance with IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ Generali 
Schade recognises provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Provisions are recognised at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to 
settle the obligation. 
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If Generali Schade expects the expenditure required to settle a provision to be reimbursed by 
another party, such as through insurance contracts, the reimbursement is treated as a separate 
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received. Generali Schade currently does 
not expect to receive any material reimbursements. 

2.14 Deferred taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax 
assets in respect of carry-forward unused tax losses and unused tax credits are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available, against which unused tax 
losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is 
settled, thus taking into account tax legislation that has been (substantively) enacted at the 
reporting date.  

Deferred taxes are generally settled over the longer term. 

Current tax is recognised to the extent that tax filings have not been settled. Current tax assets 
and liabilities are measured using legislation that have been (substantively) enacted at the 
balance sheet date.  

Current tax amounts will be paid within a period of 12 months, unless stated otherwise.  

Generali Schade is part of the Generali Nederland fiscal unity and therefore the company has a 
joint and several liability for the tax position of the fiscal unity. This fiscal unity consists of Generali 
Nederland and several of its subsidiaries, including Generali Schade. Till the filing of the tax 
return, all deferred and current tax positions are accounted for in the financial statements of 
Generali Schade. Starting from the moment of filing the tax return, the current tax of the related 
fiscal year is charged to the current account with Generali Nederland and further accounted for in 
Generali Nederland (as a single point of the fiscal unity). 

2.15 Payables 

This category includes payables from direct insurance and reinsurance and various liabilities. 
Payables are accounted for at cost. Given the short term nature of most payables, the fair value 
is generally close to book value. 

2.16 Contingent assets and liabilities 

Within the normal course of business Generali Schade may be a party to activities, of which the 
risks are not reflected in the financial statements. Material contingent assets and liabilities are 
included in the notes to the Balance Sheet. Such contingencies, if any, are discussed in note 
23.3. 
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2.17 Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value for services, net of taxes, after eliminating revenue within 
Generali Schade. Revenue is recognised as follows: 

Insurance 

Premiums are recognised as revenue (earned premiums) proportionally over the period of 
coverage. The unearned portion of premium received on in-force contracts at the balance sheet 
date is reported as the unearned premium liability, in combination with the portion of premiums 
that relates to unexpired risks. Premiums are recognised before deduction of commission and are 
gross of any taxes or duties levied on premiums. 

Interest income and expenses 

Interest income and expenses for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within 
‘investment income’ in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.  

Income from other investments 

Income from other investments consists of interest income, dividends and realised gains and 
losses on investments. Interest is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

2.18 Expenses  

Net claims and benefits 

This comprises the claims paid to policy holders less amounts received from reinsurers, taking 
account of the change in the provision for insurance liabilities. Benefits are recorded as an 
expense when they are incurred. Reinsurance payments received are recognised in the period 
the related gross benefits are recognised. The reinsurance recoveries are separately disclosed as 
a deduction from gross benefits. 

Fees and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 

Acquisition and administrative expenses related to insurance contracts are recognised in this 
category. 

Other operating expenses 

This category comprises other administrative and staff costs for the insurance business.  

Leases 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the 
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease. 
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3 Investments 
 

 
 
 
The different valuations are categorised as follows: 

 

 

For further information on how this item is measured, please refer to section 2.7. 

 

 

(x € 1.000)

Book 

value %

Book 

value %

Investments in associates -            0,0% -            0,0%

Available-for-sale financial assets

Equity securities 588       545       

Debt securities 239.480 244.129 

Total 240.068 98,5% 244.674 99,5%

Loans and receivables

Loans 3.193     774       

Deposits with insurers 425       338       

Total 3.618     1,5% 1.112     0,5%

Total investments 243.686 100,0% 245.786 100,0%

2015 2014

2015 2014

Equity method

Investments in associates 0 0

Total equity method 0 0

Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets 240.068 244.674

Total fair value 240.068 244.674

Amortised cost

Loans and receivables 3.618 1.112

Total amortised cost 3.618 1.112

Total investments 243.686 245.786

(x € 1.000)
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3.1 Investments in associates 

Investments in associates consist of an investment in Meetingpoint. A director of Generali Schade 
is member of the Supervisory Board of Meetingpoint, and the CEO of Generali Schade is member 
of the Advisory Board of Meetingpoint. Generali has also provided expertise in developing the IT 
platform on which Meetingpoint operates. Furthermore Generali Schade, in its capacity as 
shareholder, has agreed to provide further financial support when required. As such Generali 
Schade is considered to have significant influence despite the fact that it holds less than 20% of 
the share capital of Meetingpoint. Meetingpoint is therefore considered an associate. 

MeetingPoint’s place of incorporation is Hilversum, The Netherlands and is specialised in straight 
through processing for insurance companies.  

The associate is measured using the equity method. All operations are continuing. For 2015 and 
for 2014 the current financial statements of the associate are used. Uncertainties in respect of 
future developments have led to an impairment to 0 in 2014. 

Movements in investments in associates during the year are as follows: 

 

 

 

Summarised financial information in respect of MeetingPoint is as follows: 

  

 

The entity’s share in the net assets of the associate consists of 16.67% of the associate’s net 
assets. 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January -                352

Share of total comprehensive income -                -32

Impairments -                -320

Balance as at 31 December -                0

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Profit or loss after tax from continuing operations -                -32

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income -                -32

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Current assets 3.461 3.186

Non current assets -                13

Total assets 3.461 3.199

Current liabilities 1.070 1.224

Non current liabilities -                -                

Total liabilities 1.070 1.224

Net assets 2.391 1.975

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Revenue 4.867 5.343

Profit or loss from continuing operations 424 53

Other comprehensive income -                -                

Total comprehensive income 424 53
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3.2 Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

Unlisted equities consist of other company related shares, e.g. CED (Centrale Expertise Dienst). 
The debt securities are all euro-denominated, largely investment grade bonds.  

Bond maturities are as follows: 

  

The return (interest and revaluations) on bonds is 2,74% at year-end 2015 (2014: 3,08%).  

Movements financial investments available-for-sale during the year are shown in the table below.  

 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Equity securities

Unlisted 588 545

Total 588 545

Debt securities

Listed 239.480     244.129            

Total 239.480     244.129            

Investment funds -               -                      

Total 240.068     244.674            

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Within 1 year 10.110      7.913               

1 to 5 years 167.657     133.898            

5 to 10 years 57.634      98.088             

More than 10 years 4.079        4.229               

Total 239.480     244.129            

(x € 1.000)

Available-for-

sale

At the beginning of 2014 249.103            

Additions 22.726             

Disposals (sale and redemptions) -35.777             

Unrealised gains / losses 8.901               

Amortisation of premium/discount -279                  

At the end of 2014 244.674            

At the beginning of 2015 244.674            

Additions 9.636               

Disposals (sale and redemptions) -9.388               

Unrealised gains / losses -4.617               

Amortisation of premium/discount -237                  

At the end of 2015 240.068            
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Impairments are recognised in the income statement under income from other investments. 
Revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve. 

Additional information on how these investments are measured, are provided in section 2.7. 

3.3 Loans and receivables 

 

 

The market value of the loans is € 3.189 (2014: € 792). The method used to calculate this fair 
value is based on the Net Present Value, based on a yield curve which includes a credit spread. 

The market value of the deposits with reinsurers is € 425 (2014: € 338). The fair value is equal to 
the book value. 

 

Movements during the year are shown in the table below. 

   

3.4 Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy 

The following is a description of Generali Schade’s methods of determining fair value, and a 
quantification of its exposure to financial instruments measured at fair value. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Financial instruments measured at 
fair value on an ongoing basis include investments for own account and investments for the 
account of policyholders.  

Generali Schade uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of 
financial instruments: 

• Level 1: 
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that Generali 
Schade can access at the measurement date. 

• Level 2: 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices of identical 
or similar assets and liabilities) using valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are 
based on observable market data. 

• Level 3: 
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs) using valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable 
market data.  

(x € 1000) 2015 2014

Loans 3.193                      774           

Deposits with reinsurers 425                         338           

Total 3.618                      1.112        

(x € 1000) 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 1.112                      784           

Acquisitions 2.686                      483           

Disposals -180                        -155          

Balance as at 31 December 3.618                      1.112        
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The best evidence of fair value is the existence of published priced quotations in an active 
market.  

Valuation techniques 

In the event that the market for a financial instrument is not active or quoted market prices are not 
available, a valuation technique is used. The judgment as to whether a market is active may 
include, although not necessarily determinative, lower transaction volumes, reduced transaction 
sizes and, in some cases, no observable trading activity for short periods. In inactive markets, 
assurance is obtained that the transaction price provides evidence of fair value or is determined 
that adjustments to transaction prices are necessary to measure the fair value of the instrument. 
The majority of valuation techniques employ only observable market data, and therefore the 
reliability of the fair value measurement is high.  

However, certain financial instruments are valued on the basis of valuation techniques that 
feature one or more significant market inputs that are unobservable and, for such financial 
instruments, the determination of fair value is more judgmental. These financial instruments 
include mainly debt securities for which there is no active market available at the moment. An 
instrument in its entirety is classified as valued using significant unobservable inputs if, in the 
opinion of management, a significant proportion of the instrument’s carrying amount and / or 
inception profit (‘day 1 gain or loss’) is driven by unobservable inputs. ‘Unobservable’ in this 
context means that there are little or no current market data available from which to determine the 
price at which an arm’s length transaction would be likely to occur. It generally does not mean 
that there are no market data available at all upon which to base a determination of fair value. 
Additional information is provided in the section headed ‘Effect of reasonably possible alternative 
assumptions’ below. 

The application to assets and liabilities is as follows: 

Equity securities:  

• Unlisted equity securities are classified in Level 3, since their fair value is based on the NAV 
of the underlying companies. 

Loans and receivables:  

• The fair value calculation of loans is based on a discounted cash flow model using Bloomberg 
quotes. 

• The fair value of deposits with reinsurers is deemed to be equal to the book value. 

 

The table below shows both the carrying amount and the fair value of financial assets: 

 

 

 

The table below shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the 
fair value hierarchy: 

Total 

book value

Total fair 

value

(x € 1.000)  

     240.068 240.068        

Loans and receivables 3.614        3.614            

Investment in associates -               -                   

Cash and cash equivalents 10.811      10.811          

Total investments 254.493     254.493        

31 December 2015

Available for sale financial assets
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Significant transfers between level 1 and 2 and other movements in level 2 

Generally transfers between levels are attributable to changes in market activities and 
observability of the inputs used in valuation techniques to determine the fair value of certain 
instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are mainly transferred from Level 1 to Level 
2 when the liquidity and the frequency of transactions are no longer indicative of an active market. 
Conversely, for transfers from Level 2 to Level 1. 

During the year 2015 no corporate bonds were transferred from a Level 2 to a Level 1 
classification.  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31 December 2015 Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value

(x € 1.000)

Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities -                        -               588           588               

Debt securities 239.480              -               -               239.480        

Other assets:

Investment in associates -                        -               -               -                   

Loans and receivables -                        3.614        -               3.614            

Total financial assets 239.480              3.614        588           243.682        
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Significant transfers between level 2 and 3 and other movements in level 3 

 

 

 

 

During the year 2015 Generali transferred no assets from Level 1 or Level 2 to Level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. During the year 2015 Generali did not transfer any financial instruments from 
Level 3 to other levels of the fair value hierarchy. 

A gain on Level 3 financial instruments of € 43 (2014:  € 49) was recognised in the 2015 other 
comprehensive income. 

The following table shows the sensitivity of the fair value of Level 3 instruments to changes in key 
assumptions, by class of instrument: 
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Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 545      -       43        -      -          -          588   75            

Debt securities -           -       -          -      -          -          -       -              

545      -       43        -      -          -          588   75            

Total financial assets 545      -       43        -      -          -          588   75            
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(x € 1.000)

Availble-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 496      -       49        -      -          -          545   27            

Debt securities -           -       -          -      -          -          -       -              

496      -       49        -      -          -          545   27            

Total financial assets 496      -       49        -      -          -          545   27            
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In order to determine the effect of reasonably possible alternative assumptions, Generali adjusted 
the value of available-for-sale equity securities based on the following assumptions: 

Available-for-sale equity securities for which there is no active market available at the moment. 
Prices for these equities were acquired from external parties. Generali adjusted these values up 
or down by 5% to reflect the reasonably possible alternative assumptions. 

4 Reinsurance assets 

 
Further information on the reinsurers’ share of technical provisions is provided in section 8, where 
additional information on the technical provisions can be found. 

5 Other assets 

 
 
All other assets mature within one year. 

The other assets consist of short term receivables. The fair value is approximately equal to the 
book value.  

Carrying amount

Effect of reasonably 

possible alternative 

assumptions (+/-)

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 588                          29                            

Total financial assets 588                          29                            

Carrying amount

Effect of reasonably 

possible alternative 

assumptions (+/-)

Available-for-sale financial assets:

Equity securities 545                          27                            

Total financial assets 545                          27                            

31 December 2014

31 December 2015

(x €1.000) 2015 2014

Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions 56.827 52.434

Reinsurance receivables 1.214 2.921

Less: provision for impairments -          -            

Total 58.041     55.354      

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Receivables from direct insurance 13.119 10.502

Other receivables 17.975 16.979

Total 31.094 27.481
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5.1 Receivables from direct insurance 

  

5.2 Other receivables 

  

 

Other receivables consist mainly of claim payments to process. 

6 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
All cash and cash equivalents are at the free disposal of the company. 

 

  

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Receivables from policyholders 1.023 -                  

Receivables from intermediaries 12.293 11.115

Less: provision for impairments -197 -613

Total net carrying amount as at 31 December 13.119 10.502

Nor impaired, nor past due 13.119 10.502

Impaired 197 613

Gross total 13.316 11.115

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Accrued interest 3.630        3.622        

Receivables from Group company 2.529        -               

Other receivables 11.996      13.537      

Less: provision for impairments -180           -180           

Total 17.975      16.979      

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Cash and cash equivalents 10.811      17.022      

Total 10.811 17.022
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7 Equity 
For further information on equity, please refer to the statement of changes in equity. 

7.1 Paid-up and called capital 

 

The share capital has remained the same as at year-end 2014. 

7.2 Share premium reserve 

The share premium reserve can be distributed free of withholding tax up to an amount of  
€ 7.803 (2014: € 7.803). 

7.3 Revaluation reserve 

The revaluation reserve of Generali Schade pertains mainly to revaluations of bonds. 

Movements in the revaluation reserve for available-for-sale investments were as follows: 

 

7.4 Retained earnings 

For the year 2015 dividend of an amount of € 2.8 million will be proposed to the shareholders. 
The proposed dividend has not been accounted for in the financial statements as at the balance 
sheet date. During the year a dividend of € 3.150 was paid to Generali Nederland.  

 

 

 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Authorised capital as at 31 December

10.000 shares at € 453,78 par 4.538 4.538

Total 4.538 4.538

Subscribed capital as at 31 December

3.000 shares at € 453,78 par 1.361 1.361

Total 1.361 1.361

(x € 1.000)

At the beginning of 2014 13.130

Gains and losses transferred to the income statement -842

Revaluation – gross 9.182

Revaluation – tax -2.296

At the beginning of 2015 19.175

Gains and losses transferred to the income statement -244

Revaluation – gross -4.617

Revaluation – tax 1.215

At the end of 2015 15.529
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Restrictions with respect to dividend and repayment of capital 

Generali Schade is subject to legal restrictions regarding the amount of dividends it can pay to 
the shareholders. Pursuant to the Dutch Civil Code, dividends can only be paid up to an amount 
equal to the excess of the company’s own funds over the sum of the paid-up capital, and 
reserves required by law. 

Moreover, Generali Schade’s ability to pay dividends is dependent on the dividend payment 
ability of its subsidiaries and associates. Generali Schade is legally required to create a non-
distributable reserve insofar profits of its subsidiaries and associates are subject to dividend 
payment restrictions which apply to those subsidiaries and associates themselves. Furthermore 
Generali Schade is legally required to create an Available For Sale reserve insofar unrealised 
profits are recognised in the total equity. 

7.5 Legal reserves 

Generali Schade does not account for a participation reserve of its participation in Meetingpoint 
since this associate has been impaired to nil in 2014. 

A legal reserve exists for the unrealised gains and losses on available for sale investments for an 
amount of € 15.5  million (2014: € 19.0 million). 

8 Insurance contract liabilities 
The provision for insurance liabilities is presented in the table below. 

 

The results of the Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) indicated that our provisions are sufficient. We 
observed a sharp decrease in our LAT compared to previous year.  

 

 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Non-life insurance contract liabilities (short term) 41.628            34.771            

Non-life insurance contract liabilities (long term) 215.276          220.996          

Total 256.904          255.767          

(x € 1.000)

Gross 

reserves

Reinsurance 

assets Net

Non-life insurance contracts

Provision for unearned premiums 41.628 21.440 20.189

Provision for claims incurred 196.445 33.506 162.938

Provision for unallocated claims expenses 5.196 146 5.049

IBNR reserve 13.635 1.735 11.900

215.276 35.388 179.885

Total 256.904 56.828 200.074

2015
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Movements in the gross provision for claims incurred, claims expenses and IBNR were as 
follows: 

 

 

The decrease in IBNR relates primarily to decrease disability (€ 6.0 million) due to decreased 
number of claims. The settlement of large fire claims has a significant impact on the decrease of 
claim reserve by € 16.0 million. 

Movements in the provision for unearned premiums were as follows: 

 

 

The following table presents the development of gross claims payments and the estimated 
ultimate gross claims cost for accident years 2006 - 2015. The upper half of the table shows the 
cumulative amounts paid during successive years related to each accident year. The estimated 

(x € 1.000)

Gross 

reserves

Reinsurance 

assets Net

Non-life insurance contracts

Provision for unearned premiums 34.771 15.413 19.358

Provision for claims incurred 195.995 33.766 162.229

Provision for unallocated claims expenses 5.739 131 5.608

IBNR reserve 19.262 3.123 16.139

220.996 37.020 183.976

Total 255.767 52.433 203.334

2014

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 220.996     239.155     

Claims reported current year 147.928     149.536     

Increase/decrease in claims previous years 16.493      14.823      

Add: claims reported 164.421     164.359     

Claims paid current year 87.781      88.522      

Claims paid previous years 76.733      91.491      

Less: claims paid 164.514     180.013     

Increase/decrease in IBNR -5.627       -2.505       

Balance as at 31 December 215.276 220.996

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Balance as at 1 January 34.771      32.110      

Gross premiums written 246.703     246.210     

Gross premiums earned 239.846     243.549     

Increase/decrease in gross provision for unearned premiums 6.857 2.661

Balance as at 31 December 41.628      34.771      
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ultimate claims cost consists of claims paid, the outstanding claims provision and the IBNR 
reserve.  

The decrease from the original estimate is generally attributable to a combination of factors 
including claims being settled for larger or smaller amounts than originally estimated. The original 
estimates will also be adjusted up or down as more information becomes available about the 
individual claims, overall claim frequency and severity patterns. 

 

Development of gross claims 

 

 

The run-off result (for 2014 and older years) for Generali Schade is positive. Main driver behind 
the positive contribution is Disability, where the recovery rates of claims are higher than expected. 
When we look at individual branches and sales channels we see negative run of results for 
underwriting agents and motor liability. 

(x € 1.000)

all 

prior 

years 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total

Gross cumulative 

claims payments:

At end of accident 

year 38.291 46.023 52.777 69.299 74.184 81.583 91.469 91.280 88.522 87.781

One year later 67.644 80.560 73.674 112.135 130.943 134.010 145.345 149.911 128.212

Two years later 73.801 87.993 82.241 123.139 144.840 146.998 159.440 165.857

Three years later 77.870 90.927 85.545 128.204 150.545 154.304 166.589

Four years later 80.381 93.094 89.657 131.363 155.374 159.003

Five years later 81.852 95.243 90.955 133.758 158.466

Six years later 83.133 96.803 92.262 136.014

Seven years later 84.062 97.716 93.622

Eight years later 84.409 97.829

Nine years later 85.201

Ten years later

Cumulative claims 

payments 85.201 97.829 93.622 136.014 158.466 159.003 166.589 165.857 128.212 87.781

Estimate of gross 

cumulative claims:

At end of accident 

year 96.753 115.578 126.576 149.683 166.483 163.271 187.662 196.903 171.579 163.397

One year later 97.359 118.906 135.132 159.795 190.279 189.619 199.458 196.898 168.218

Two years later 94.299 112.320 108.703 149.588 180.306 179.605 193.591 200.658

Three years later 94.495 110.360 102.700 148.107 174.274 180.259 191.480

Four years later 94.653 107.229 101.614 146.121 173.414 179.858

Five years later 89.940 104.553 99.562 145.192 174.254

Six years later 88.802 101.397 98.368 146.545

Seven years later 87.271 100.276 97.846

Eight years later 86.510 100.537

Nine years later 86.459

Ten years later

Estimate of 

cumulative claims 86.459 100.537 97.846 146.545 174.254 179.858 191.480 200.658 168.218 163.397

Total 5.561 1.258 2.708 4.224 10.531 15.788 20.855 24.891 34.801 40.006 75.615 236.236

Discounting 

provision for 

disability 40 111 114 304 2.502 2.776 2.945 3.214 3.071 2.983 2.900 20.960

Balance as at 31 

December 5.521 1.147 2.594 3.920 8.029 13.012 17.910 21.677 31.730 37.023 72.715 215.276
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Development of net claims 

 

  

(x € 1.000)

all prior 

years 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total

Net cumulative 

claims payments:

At end of accident 

year 34.373    41.440   46.896    61.125    67.282    75.672    81.225    83.224    81.509    79.604         

One year later 60.460    71.641   82.791    100.449 118.028 122.671 125.221 132.572 115.599 

Two years later 64.454    78.138   88.748    109.341 126.843 133.939 135.877 144.082 

Three years later 67.841    80.400   90.890    113.096 131.701 139.770 141.364 

Four years later 69.427    82.085   92.419    115.741 134.777 143.551 

Five years later 70.624    83.957   93.490    117.651 137.425 

Six years later 71.546    84.996   94.608    119.276 

Seven years later 71.993    85.775   95.572    

Eight years later 72.269    85.861   

Nine years later 73.010    

Ten years later

Cumulative claims 

payments 73.010 85.861 95.572 119.276 137.425 143.551 141.364 144.082 115.599 79.604

Estimate of Nett 

cumulative claims:

At end of accident 

year 85.953    104.520 111.855 133.965 141.712 147.226 161.790 172.171 153.831 146.562       

One year later 84.711    103.535 115.648 140.227 165.027 170.970 171.606 169.106 150.268 

Two years later 82.400    97.691   108.655 130.672 156.597 161.328 165.637 169.621 

Three years later 81.033    95.974   103.453 129.054 151.106 161.401 163.547 

Four years later 81.202    93.097   102.170 127.363 149.717 161.030 

Five years later 76.072    91.148   100.363 126.041 150.177 

Six years later 75.264    88.480   99.586    126.827 

Seven years later 74.323    87.621   98.875    

Eight years later 73.926    87.556   

Nine years later 73.811    

Ten years later

Estimate of 

cumulative claims 73.811 87.556 98.875 126.827 150.177 161.030 163.547 169.621 150.268 146.562

Total 4.497  801          1.695     3.303      7.551      12.752    17.479    22.183    25.539    34.669    66.958         197.427  

Discounting of 

provision for 

disability 40        76            95           279         1.739      2.408      2.414      2.773      2.599      2.637      2.482           17.542     

Balance as at 31 

December 4.457  725          1.600     3.024      5.812      10.344    15.065    19.410    22.940    32.032    64.476         179.885  
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9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

 
 

The changes taken to the income statement largely concern the adjustment to technical 
provisions and the amortisation of bonds. The changes taken to equity mainly concern changes in 
the revaluation of available-for-sale bonds. 

The deferred tax liability has arisen in part on differences between the commercial and tax 
accounting policies for other investments and technical reserves. The investments are accounted 
for at cost for tax purposes. A tax equalisation reserve is used as well. Since this reserve does 
not exist for commercial accounting purposes, a tax liability has been recognised. This is done 
within the fiscal entity Generali Nederland. At the end of 2015, this reserve equalled € 0. 

Deferred taxes at year-end 2015 are accounted for at the applicable tax rate of 25.0% (2014: 
25.0%).  

 

(x €1.000) 2015 2014

Deferred tax assets 1.366 1.134

Deferred tax liabilities -5.176 -6.391

Total as at 31 December -3.810 -5.257

Balance as at 1 January -5.257 -3.274

Through profit or loss 232 32

Recognised in equity 1.215 -2.015

Carrying amount as at 31 December -3.810 -5.257

Payable within 12 months -               -               

Payable after 12 months -3.810 -5.257

Total as at 31 December -3.810 -5.257

At the beginning of 2014 -3.604 330 -3.274

Charged/(credited) to the income statement 72 -40 32              

Charged/(credited) to equity (net of transfers to 

retained earnings) -2.015 -                 -2.015

Acquisition of subsidary

At the end of 2014 -5.547 290 -5.257

At the beginning of 2015 -5.547 290 -5.257

Charged/(credited) to the income statement 173 59 232             

Charged/(credited) to equity (net of transfers to 

retained earnings) 1.215 -                 1.215          

At the end of 2015 -4.159 349 -3.810

Total

(x €1.000)

Unrealised 

appreciation 

of 

investments

Insurance 

liabilties
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10 Other payables 

 

Given the short term nature of most liabilities the fair value is estimated to be close to the book 
value. 

The payables arising from insurance activities consist of the following: 

 

Tax liabilities are accounted for in the balance sheet at their nominal value. 

The other payables and financial liabilities consist of the following: 

 

All regular cash payments and receipts are processed through the current account. 

Payables are all current, being expected to mature within 12 months. There are no contractual 
repricing periods, nor has any collateral been furnished. 

11 Employee Benefits 
Generali Schade has no provision for employee benefits in respect of own staff as all Generali 
staff in the Netherlands are employed by Generali Nederland. Generali levensverzekering 
maatschappij nv, also a subsidiary of Generali Nederland, acts as insurer for the pension plan of 
Generali Nederland and records the relevant liability as part of its technical provisions. For further 
details of employee benefits, reference should be made to the financial statements of Generali 
Nederland nv. 

 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Payables arising from insurance activities 9.655 6.248

Tax liabilities 4.190 1.057

Other payables and financial liabilities 2.208 5.509

Total 16.053 12.814

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

From direct insurance

Policyholders 4.127 3.897

Intermediaries 3.254 1.152

Total 7.381 5.049

From reinsurance

Group companies 1.044 59

Other 1.230 1.139

Total 2.274 1.199

Total 9.655 6.248

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Payable to group companies -               2.798        

Claims income yet to be processed 270           1.085        

Outstanding bonuses and commissions payable -               455           

Oustanding payables with third parties -               202           

Other payables and financial liabilities 1.938        969           

Total 2.208 5.509
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12 Premium income 
Premium income for the non-life insurance business breaks down as follows: 

 

13 Investment income 

 

14 Other operating income 
Other operating income consists of miscellaneous items (€ 230). To a large extent this is due to a 
release of the provision for bad debt. Other operating income includes a currency result of € 22 
(2014: € 0).  

Liability Other

Gross premiums 

earned 51.155 44.158 58.592 58.558 8.477 14.930 2.089 1.887 239.846

Reinsurance 6.510 6.121 7.514 13.063 1.501 1.511 34 1.828 38.082
Net premiums 44.645 38.037 51.078 45.495 6.976 13.419 2.055 59 201.764

Liability Other

Gross premiums 

earned 51.360 48.708 59.319 57.389 8.242 14.210 2.301 2.020 243.549

Reinsurance 6.201 6.213 7.315 13.108 1.465 841 264 1.978 37.385

Net premiums 

earned 45.159 42.495 52.004 44.281 6.777 13.369 2.037 42 206.164

Other

Legal 

expenses Total 2014(x €1.000) Fire Medical

Motor vehicle

Liability Transport

Total 2015(x €1.000) Fire Medical

Motor vehicle

Liability Transport Other

Legal 

expenses

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Proceeds on available-for-sale financial assets

Interest/dividend received from available-for-sale financial assets 6.521 6.996

Realised gains on available-for-sale financial assets 244 842

Realised losses on available-for-sale financial assets -               -               

Amortisation of bonds -237 -278

Total 6.528 7.560

Proceeds on loans and receivables

Interest received on loans and receivables 60 15

Total 60 15

Other income

Interest received from/paid on cash and cash equivalents -19 2              

Interest received from other receivables 34 45

Interest paid on other receivables -24 -26

Total -9 21

Expenses related to investments -266 -279

Total investment income 6.313 7.317

Proceeds from investments in associated companies

Result on associated companies 0 -353

Total income from associated companies 0 -353

Total investment income and income from associated companies 6.313 6.964
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15 Net claims and benefits paid 

 
Claims payments are shown net of recoveries. Generali Schade recorded a reinsurance loss of  
€  9.172 in 2015, that is to say reinsurance premiums paid exceeded recoveries from reinsurance 
contracts (2014: reinsurance loss of € 9.783). 

16 Fees and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 

 
 

17 Other operating expenses 

 
 

Administration costs for insurance contracts and Other expenses consist of a proportional 
allocation of respectively the incremental depreciation on capitalized ICT projects and the 
reorganisation charge. Both are recorded in the books of Generali Nederland. 

The fees for audit services rendered by Ernst & Young Accountants LLP to Generali Nederland in 
2015 and 2014 are disclosed in the financial statements of Generali Nederland nv. 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Net claims

Claims paid 164.514               180.014 -23.140  -24.472  141.374 155.542 

Increase/decrease in provision

for claims incurred -5.721                  -18.158  1.632     4.487     -4.089    -13.671  

Total 158.793 161.856 -21.508 -19.985  137.285 141.871 

Gross NetReinsurers' share

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

59.391 58.295      

Of which:

Acquisition and collecting commission for insurance contracts 55.017      55.057      

Other acquisition costs for insurance contracts 4.374        3.238        

Reinsurers' commissions and profit commissions -7.402        -7.617        

Net fee and commissions paid and other acquisition costs 51.989 50.678      

Gross fees and commission paid and other acquisition costs

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Administration costs for insurance contracts 16.431 12.750

Lease payments 127 126

Other expenses 0 2.050

Total 16.558 14.926      
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18 Taxes 
Taxes break down as follows: 

  

The expected and effective tax rate is reconciled on the basis of applicable tax rates in the table 
below. 

 

The deferred taxes recognised directly in equity amount to € 619 (2014: € -2.295). This item 
concerns unrealised investment gains/losses.  

19 Employee information 
Generali Schade is staffed by employees of Generali Nederland working in the Netherlands. No 
remunerations of any kind are paid directly by Generali Schade. The expenses recorded by 
Generali Schade are to a large extent allocations of costs borne by Generali Nederland (see 
notes 11 & 22.3). In 2015 51.5% of the total costs of Generali Nederland was allocated to 
Generali Schade (2014: 41.6%). Accordingly, reference should be made to the financial 
statements of Generali Nederland nv for further information regarding the cost of employees and 
directors (see note 22.3 for the allocated costs of directors).  

  

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Current tax 851 1.573

Deferred tax -232 32

Total 619 1.605        

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Nominal tax rate 25,0% 25,0%

Profit before tax 2.475 6.068

Tax payable at nominal rate 619 1.517

Tax exemption for associated companies -            88

Total tax expense for the year 619 1.605

Effective tax rate for the year 25,0% 26,5%
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20 Internal control framework 

20.1.1 Intro 

Generali Nederland, as part of the worldwide Generali Group, has approved its current strategy in 
the Q2/2015 (main focus on delivering the strategy for the planning cycle 2016-2018). It is in line 
with the vision (“Our purpose is to actively protect and enhance people’s lives”) and mission (“Our 
mission is to be the first choice by delivering relevant and accessible insurance solutions”) of the 
Group and additionally is built around the core values (“deliver on the promise, value our people, 
be open and live the community”). It also considers the six key strategic pillars of Assicurazioni 
Generali (customer, distributor, solutions, footprint, innovation, people). However, it is important 
to note that the strategy for the Netherlands focuses on the specific needs of the Dutch market 
(customer characteristics). In total, Generali Nederland aims at two sustainable business models 
(Life / Non-Life) – in a solvent and profitable organization as well as a competitive cost position – 
resulting from: 

• a distinctive positioning (“personal”), 

• a clear focus on specific target groups (retail, entrepreneurs, small and medium-sized 
enterprises up to 50 FTE, Corporate), 

• delivering relevant and accessible insurance solutions for each target group  (“simpler, 
smarter”,e.g. eight non-life products and one life product for retail) and 

• multi-access distribution through the direct channel, advisors and underwriting agents (non-life 
only). 

Strategic risks are those risks that prevent us from executing our strategy and fulfilling our 
purpose. Sources of strategic risk are poor business decision making, substandard execution of 
decisions, inadequate resource allocation, or from a failure to respond well to changes in the 
business environment. 

We, continuously, monitor developments in our business environment. This allows us to, 
adequately, respond to changes in our clients’ needs, our competitors and political, economic, 
social, technological, legal and environmental developments. 

We implemented a planning and control cycle to monitor the execution of our strategic plan. This 
control cycle affects all levels of our organization and includes drawing up departmental plans 
and designing a strategic dashboard as a control tool for our management. These tools help 
monitor the progress in the execution of our strategy. We identified key performance indicators. 
These include financial indicators such as gross written premiums and non-financial indicators 
such as customer retention rates, customer satisfaction levels,  customer complaints, and lean 
initiatives. 

Furthermore we launched a company-wide culture and training programme to deal with possible 
change and talent management risk such as losing talents, vacant (management) position and 
lack of necessary skills over the upcoming years. 

20.1.2 Corporate Governance 

Corporate governance represents the sum of the methods, processes, models, and planning, 
management and control systems that are required to direct, administer and/or control the 
operations of the company. Corporate governance deals with the relationships among the many 
stakeholders involved and the goals for which the corporation is governed.  

Our main stakeholders are our clients, the intermediary and the shareholders. Other stakeholders 
include the Supervisory Board, management and employees, regulators and the community at 
large.  

An important theme of corporate governance is to ensure the accountability of our employees, 
managers and directors. We have implemented mechanisms such as quarterly risk and 
compliance reporting, (systematic) risk analyses and risk mapping that reduce or eliminate 
potential principal (shareholder) – agent (Management Board) problems. The strengths of our 
organisation: people-oriented, solution-oriented, and passionate are the means by which these 
mechanisms are made operational. 
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20.1.3 Management 

The so-called mitigated structure regime is applicable to Generali Nederland and its subsidiaries. 
Generali Nederland has a two tier board. As a consequence there is a distinction between the 
Management Board which is responsible for the operation of the company, and the Supervisory 
Board, which is responsible for the supervision of the Management Board.  

The Supervisory Board consists of four members of which two were nominated by Assicurazioni 
Generali S.p.A, and two (including the chairman) who are independent of the Generali group. The 
shareholder meeting decides on the appointment of the members. The Supervisory Board of 
Generali Nederland acts on behalf of Generali Schade and Generali Leven as these companies 
have received a dispensation from DNB from the requirement to have its own Supervisory Board. 
The Risk & Audit Committee is a committee of the Supervisory Board, responsible for financial 
and risk oversight, advising and proposing on decisions to be taken by the Supervisory Board. In 
line with Dutch legislation, the Risk & Audit Committee is especially involved in issues with 
respect to compliance, risk management, internal controls, financial reporting, internal audit, 
external auditors and the functioning of ICT. 

The Management Board of Generali Nederland comprises the directors of Generali Nederland NV 
and its insurance subsidiaries. Ultimate responsibility remains with the statutory directors. With 
respect to corporate governance, the statutory directors are responsible for: 

• defining a corporate strategy aimed at fulfilling the mission of the company,  

• developing an effective corporate governance system, and 

• implementing an effective risk management system. 

Every month, Generali Nederland’s Risk Committee convenes to discuss matters concerning 
compliance and risk management. The Risk Committee consists of Generali Nederland’s 
Management Board, its General Counsel, its Compliance Officer, and the heads of the internal 
audit and risk functions.  

20.1.4 Governance structure 

Our corporate governance structure has been set up in line with the Dutch Corporate Governance 
Code, also known as the “Code Frijns.” This corporate governance structure aims to mitigate 
conflicts of interest and moral hazard. It provides a solid foundation for the effective execution of 
business processes within clearly defined ethical and operational boundaries. 

Our corporate governance structure facilitates: 

• efficiency and effectiveness of corporate processes, 

• an effective risk management system, 

• reliable and trustworthy management and financial information, 

• safeguarding and aligning stakeholders’ interests, 

• safeguarding the company’s ability to meet its solvency capital requirements, 

• compliance with legislation, regulations and corporate guidelines, and 

• risk awareness. 

Enterprise risk management is risk-based approach to managing an enterprise. It provides a 
framework for risk management. This framework contributes to the identification of risks, including 
those risk that we classify as operational risks. Our risk management system is structured 
according to the “Three Lines of Defence” model. This model contributes to an effective risk-
management system by discerning between risk owners, risk observers and independent risk 
controllers. Risk is taken and managed by risk owners. Risk observers monitor adherence to risk 
guidelines. Independent risk controllers assess the effectiveness of the risk management system. 

We appointed a corporate compliance officer who monitors compliance with legislation, 
regulations and corporate guidelines. The corporate compliance officer is supported by “business 
compliance officers.” The business compliance officers act as representatives of the compliance 
officer at an operational level.  

The internal audit function independently assesses (audits) the effectiveness of the corporate 
governance framework. Its independence from the operational side of the organization provides 
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its management with assurance. The Risk and Audit Committee has the authority to inquire with 
the internal audit function on all matters of risk management and compliance. 

Reporting 

A monitoring and reporting structure is in place, aligned with the respective bodies and their roles 
such as identified and described within the governance structure. It supports periodic as well as 
incidental reporting on the risk management framework, its effectiveness and the organisations 
risk profile. This reporting structure provides an information flow to each of the bodies identified 
within the company's governance structure. Thus, each of the bodies can perform its role in order 
to realise company goals with a reasonable amount of assurance. A monthly report by risk 
owners through the second line of defence, regarding changes in the risk profile and the 
development of the company's capabilities of managing risk, where the second line of defence 
adds analyses and advice, results in a quarterly cycle of mitigating the most substantial changes 
in the risk profile.  

20.1.5 Risk management 

Organization 
At the start of 2016, the European Union’s new Solvency II regime has come into full force. De 
Nederlandsche Bank, gradually, has been implementing the Solvency II regime ahead of this 
date. At the end of 2015, we  consider the Solvency II regime to, effectively, have governed our 
industry for at least a year. The Solvency II Directive requires insurance undertakings “have in 
place an effective risk-management system” (article 44). 

Our risk management is structured according to the “Three Lines of Defence” model. This model 
contributes to an effective risk-management system by defining: 

• functions that manage risks (risk owners) 

• functions that oversee risk (risk observers), and 

• functions that provide independent assurance (independent risk controllers). 

As the first line of defence, operational managers own and manage risks. They also are 
responsible for implementing corrective actions to address process and control deficiencies. As 
second line of defence, the risk management function, actuarial function and compliance function 
observe whether operational managers adhere to risk guidelines. The functions that make up the 
second line of defence ensure the first line of defence is properly designed, in place, and operating 
as intended. As third line of defence, the internal audit function independently assesses (audits) the 
effectiveness of the risk management system. Its independence from and objectivity towards the 
operational side of the organization provide the Management Board with assurance. 

Supervision and reporting 
The effectiveness of our risk management system is enshrined in our structure of internal and 
external reports. We encourage all our staff to report any risks that they recognise to their 
operational managers. In turn, operational managers are required to report risk management 
issues to the risk function. Once a month, the Management Board discusses risk management 
issues during a dedicated “Risk Board” meeting. This meeting is attended by representatives of the 
functions that make up the second and third lines of defence. As second line of defence, the risk 
management function can address risk management issues to the Management Board at any time. 
 
The Supervisory Board supervises the Management Board and the general course of affairs of our 
company. It meets on a quarterly basis. The risk and audit committee advises the Supervisory 
Board on matters of risk management. The committee convenes in preparation for each meeting of 
the Supervisory Board. To this purpose, it invites representatives of the functions that make up the 
second and third lines of defence to attend. 
 
As part of our risk-management system, we annually conduct an “own risk and solvency 
assessment.” External auditors and regulators that are fully independent of the organization 
provide assurance to third parties. We report the outcome of our own risk and solvency 
assessment to De Nederlandsche Bank. Detailed quantitative risk measures are shared with De 
Nederlandsche Bank through the Solvency II quantitative reporting templates.  
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Risk appetite and capital policy 
We set a target for coverage of the solvency capital requirement at 110%. At the same time, we set 
a target for coverage of the solvency capital requirement at 100% without applying the volatility 
adjustment (Solvency II Directive, art. 77d). Our risk tolerance is defined by the stricter of these 2 
targets. A breach of either of these thresholds invokes immediate action to restore the coverage of 
our solvency capital requirement. We will pay a dividend only if the coverage of the solvency capital 
requirement is at least 100% without applying convergence to an ultimate forward rate (Solvency II 
Directive, art. 77a). Our risk appetite is defined by this target. 
 
We set an “early signal” threshold for coverage of the solvency capital requirement at 125%. A 
breach of this threshold invokes actions aimed at preventing the coverage of the solvency capital 
requirement dropping below the target level. We use the “Standard Formula” defined in title I, 
chapter VI, section 4, subsection 2 of the Solvency II Directive to calculate the solvency capital 
requirement. 
 
Risk profile and management 
It is difficult to provide an exhaustive list of risks that could pose a threat against fulfilling our 
mission. Below, we shall discuss a number of risks and how we manage these risks. We keep 
using the definitions of the Solvency II Directive. Solvency II measures risk as the probable change 
in value caused by actual losses that differ from the expected losses. 
 
Operational risk 
The Solvency II Directive defines operational risk as ‘the risk of loss arising from inadequate or 
failed internal processes, personnel or systems, or from external events.’ Operational risk 
management is described in further detail in paragraph 4. 
 
Underwriting risk 
Underwriting risk is the risk of loss or of adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities, due to 
inadequate pricing and provisioning assumptions. For non-life products, we discern between 

• premium and reserve risk 

• catastrophe risk, and  
• lapse risk. 

Underwriting insurance policies is at the core of our business. We cannot avoid the risk of loss that, 
intrinsically, is tied to the nature of our business. However properly recognising, measuring and 
limiting these risks contributes to effective management of those risks. Among the risks that we 
want to limit are moral hazard, concentration and correlation.  
 
Moral hazard occurs when a customer who puts his posessions or health for which he seeks 
insurance at risk. One way to mitigate such risk is the application of an own risk threshold. 
Damages are only paid when they surpass this threshold. Correlation occurs when different insured 
objects or persons are exposed to the same risk. In a certain way, terrorism and war are sources of 
correlation. It is highly likely that if one insured person is exposed to this risk others also will be 
exposed to this risk. Alternatively, one could look at terrorism and war as causes for geographic 
risk concentration. We limit catastrophe risk by excluding perils such as acts of terrorism or war 
and natural disasters. 

Insurance policies, typically are entered into for a very limited amount of time. Because of these 
short-term contract boundaries, lapse risk will be limited. 

Income insurance products that involve recurring payments such as disability annuities have 
resemble life insurance products. The main sources of life underwriting risk are: 

o changes in the level, trend or volatility of mortality rates, resulting in increased 
longevity,  

o disability and morbidity rates, 
o expenses, 
o revision rates, 
o lapse rates, and 
o uncertainty of pricing and provisioning assumptions related to extreme or irregular 

events (catastrophes). 
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We do not mitigate most of these risks. It is possible to hedge against inflation. However, 
instruments that provide a hedge against inflation, generally, hedge against changes in consumer 
prices. Unless consumer price inflation is highly correlated with expense inflation, such instruments 
provide little protection. Our insurance products are not  subject to revision risk. We do mitigate 
catastrophe risk through our re-insurance programme  
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss ‘arising from fluctuations in the level and in the volatility of market 
prices of assets, liabilities and financial instruments.’ The main sources of market risk are: 
 

• changes in the term structure or volatility of interest rates, 

• changes in the level or volatility of 
o market prices for equity, 
o market prices for real estate,  
o credit spreads over the risk-free interest rate term structure, 
o currency exchange rates, and 

• a lack of diversification in the asset portfolio or a large exposure to default risk by a single 
issuer of securities or a group of related issuers. 

A mismatch between cash inflows and cash outflows, primarily, occurs with disability insurance and 
so-called “long-tailed” insurance products. Long-tailed insurance products are those products that 
tend to take a long period of time before claims are fully settled. Payments of claims may extend 
beyond the maturity of available financial instruments. If such is the case, we will need to re-invest 
proceeds from our investments. The customer may have bought this insurance against payment of 
a fixed, recurring premium. At the moment that we need to make such future investments, we might 
not be able to generate a sufficiently high yield on those investments.  
 
We have limited appetite for interest rate risk. For this reason, we try to match the interest rate 
sensitivity of our fixed income investments to that of our liabilities. The Solvency II regime applies a 
number of administrative adjustments (art. 77a - 77d) to observed interest rates. These 
administrative adjustments make it difficult to implement an effective hedge using financial 
instruments. 
 
 
We, primarily, invest in fixed income instruments. Government bonds issued by EMU member 
states make up most of this portfolio. Under the Solvency II regime, we are not required to hold 
solvency capital for spread risk on such government bonds. This does not mean that there are no 
differences in yields on bonds issued by individual countries. Nor does it mean that such 
differences are fixed. We have a high exposure to countries such as Germany, the Netherlands 
and Austria. At the same time, we do not have an exposure to those countries that are referred to 
as “peripheral.” We also invest in corporate bonds. Such bonds, generally, are considered more 
risky than government bonds. To compensate for that risk, investors will demand a higher yield on 
such a bond over the yield of a government bond that has a comparable maturity and coupon rate. 
Spread risk is caused by changes in the level and volatility of that extra yield. 
 
The credit spread reflects uncertainty about the ability of the issuer of a bond to fulfil its obligation 
to pay coupons and repay principal on the bond. A credit default swap pays an amount equal to the 
principal if the issuer of the bond fails to repay principal on the bond. The buyer of a credit default 
can thus protect itself against the risk that a creditor defaults on its obligation. The tenure of the 
credit default swap is the period during which the buyer receives this protection. A credit default 
spread, thus provides partial protection from spread risk. We do not use such credit default swaps 
to hedge against this risk. 
 
We mitigate spread risk by investing almost exclusively in investment grade bonds. Investment 
grade bonds are rated Baa3 (BBB-) or higher. We apply a principle of “second best” out of the 
credit ratings assigned by Moody’s, S&P and Fitch. This means that we ignore the highest credit 
rating if more than one rating agency rates the bond.  
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We do not have a material exposure to foreign exchange rates. Liabilities in other currencies other 
than the euro are not material.  
 
We strive to diversify our investments and avoid excessive exposure to any single issuer of 
financial instruments. In doing so, we limit the loss on our investments in a single issuer of financial 
instruments. In theory, it is possible that countries such as Germany or the Netherlands may 
default on their obligations. We consider this a very remote and also an irrelevant probability. We 
find this an irrelevant probability, because we expect a default by Germany or the Netherlands to 
have a catastrophic impact on the Dutch insurance market. Consequently, we do not consider any 
investment in German or Dutch government bonds a concentration of risk.  
 
The Solvency II regime does not apply a solvency capital requirement to financial instruments that 
are issued or guaranteed by European Union member states. This is the case for all debt 
denominated in local currency. Notwithstanding the lack of such a capital charge for other 
European Union member states, we are not willing to accept an unlimited exposure to all such 
countries. 
 
For non-government issuers, we have no appetite for any concentration risk. Consequently, we 
limit exposures to single issuers of financial instruments to the threshold levels defined in the 
Solvency II Delegated Acts (article 184).  
 
Counterparty default risk 
Counterparty default risk is the risk of loss ‘arising from unexpected default, or deterioration in the 
credit standing, of counterparties and debtors.’ For the purpose of identifying counterparty default 
risk, issuers of financial instruments are not considered counterparties. Typically, the relationship 
with such issuers of financial instruments is indirect through regulated markets. Risks stemming 
from the relationship with such issuers of financial instruments is classified as market risk.  
 
The main sources for counterparty default risk are uncollateralised: 
 

• deposits with banks, 

• securities lending arrangements, 

• claims against counterparties involved in derivative transactions, 

• claims against re-insurers, 

• loans to individual persons (including mortgage loans), and 

• debtors. 

We deposit funds with banks in the normal course of business. These deposits, normally, will not 
be collateralised. We do business with a limited number of banks that have an “investment grade” 
financial strength rating. Deposits with banks provide us with the necessary operational liquidity. 
Normally, we will look for opportunities to invest excess liquidities. 

We have a securities lending arrangement with our primary custodian bank. We require that any 
the value of borrowed financial instruments is met by the posting of highly liquid bonds with high 
credit rating and issued by EMU member states or international organisations of a similar standing. 

We, generally, do not require re-insurers to post collateral. 

Claims against debtors result from our daily operations. We, generally, will not require debtors to 
post collateral. 

The impact on the value of fixed income assets of a 100 base points upward and 20 base points 
downward shift in the swap curve has been calculated. All other variables are held constant. 
Generali Schade did so by calculating the spread over the zero yield curve published by the Dutch 
Central Bank implied by each bond's Bloomberg generic value to which Generali Schade added, or 
from which Generali Schade subtracted, 100 base points before recalculating the bond’s value. In 
principle the impact (both up- and downward) would be recognised directly in equity. 

Yield sensitivity bond portfolio: 
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Cash flows fixed income portfolio (Maturity analysis) 

The table below shows the contractual cash flows (repayments and coupons) from fixed income 
instruments on the balance sheet held at year-end 2014 (2015 data are not available). Because the 
bond portfolio did not change materially in 2015, the 2015 cash flows are considered to be in line 
with the  2014 cash flows.Cash flows of (and positions in) equity, property, cash and swaps are not 
included. Also in this table we disregard possible reinvestment of cash flows. 

  

Liabilities Cash Flows  (Maturity analysis) 

The following table shows expected payment for incurred claims against non-life insurance policies 
net of reinsurance. Cash flows are shown undiscounted. The table shows the long term nature of 
retirement benefit.  

Portfolio

Impact on 

equity

Impact on 

P&L

Value 239.480

Shock 100 basis points up -8.409 -6.307 -             

Shock 20 basis points down 1.771 1.328 -             

Interest rate risk   (x €1.000)

 

Maturity Cash flow

0-5 years 186.845

5-10 years 56.260

10-15 years 3.355

15-20 years -                 

20-25 years -                 

25-30 years -                 

30-35 years -                 

35-40 years -                 

Total 246.460

Contractual cash flow from fixed income   (x €1.000)
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Based on the cash flow figures above the company has concluded that liquidity cash flow issues 
are not expected in the near future. 

In the table below the government bonds are divided into countries. 

 

 

  

 

Maturity Cash flow

0-5 years 166.941

5-10 years 28.509

10-15 years 12.402

15-20 years 7.359          

20-25 years 3.342          

25-30 years 1.581          

30-35 years 341             

35-40 years 8                

Total 220.483

Contractual cash flow from fixed income   (x €1.000)

(x € 1.000)

Government Bonds Fair value Amortised cost Fair value

Amortised 

cost

The Netherlands 72.669                    66.499             73.754                    66.565            

France 37.382                    33.527             39.870                    35.055            

Austria 28.505                    24.709             34.335                    29.851            

Belgium 22.786                    20.405             23.453                    20.601            

Germany 17.598                    15.751             18.857                    16.766            

European Investment Bank 5.052                      5.003              5.224                      5.017              

Total 183.992                   165.894           195.493                   173.855          

2015 2014
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Credit exposure by rating  

 

The table below shows the composition of the reinsurance assets and bond portfolio at year end 
2015 by rating. Generali Schade assigns to the bonds, if available, the second best rating provided 
by the rating agencies Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch.  

In 2014 and 2015 no impairments were recorded in respect of bonds.  

Collaterals 
Generali Schade has engaged in the lending of securities whose legal ownership has – yet whose 
beneficial ownership has not – been transferred from the company. To mitigate counterparty risk a 
collateral equivalent to 102% of assets lent has been negotiated. In addition to this 2% collateral 
margin minimum requirements have been defined with respect to the quality of the collateral 
regarding currency, rating, and issuer.  Collateral to cover the risk of the securities not being 
returned has been requested and obtained. This collateral consists of bonds. The proceeds on 
securities lending, amounting to € 29 (2014: € 21), are accounted for under income from other 
investments in the income statement. As at year-end, an amount of € 56.815 (2014: € 33.273) has 
been lent. These lent securities consist fully of AFS bonds. 

As eligible collateral for the lending activities are allowed: bonds denominated in euro that are 
issued within the EMU, that have the euro as sole currency and that have at least a rating of AA- by 
Standard & Poor’s or Fitch or AA3 by Moody’s. Also at least 50% of the collateral should consist 
out of EMU government bonds with a AAA rating. Because of these restrictions to the collateral we 
deem the position to be liquid. 

Generali Schade holds the following collaterals in respect of securities lending: 

 

The loaned out securities are not derecognised and the collateral (bonds) is not recognised on the 
balance sheet. 

Rating Reinsurance assets Government bonds

Corporate 

bonds Bond portfolio

AAA -                           95.319                    5.288              100.607          

AA+ -                           -                             -                     -                     

AA 20.527                      88.673                    3.072              91.745            

AA- 13.881                      -                             -                     -                     

A+ 2.126                        -                             -                     -                     

A 17.737                      -                             24.542            24.542            

A- 1.386                        -                             -                  -                 

BBB+ -                             -                  -                 

BBB -                           -                             22.586            22.586            

BBB- 112                           -                             -                  -                 

BB+ -                           -                             -                     -                     

BB -                           -                             -                     -                     

BB- -                           -                             -                     -                     

NR 2.274                        -                             -                     -                     

Total 58.043                      183.992                   55.488            239.480          

Credit ratings   (x €1,000)

(x €1.000) 2015 2014

Securities loaned out 56.815      33.273      

Collateral received 58.108      35.220      
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Equity risk 
To capture the downward equity risk, we apply a 10% negative stress to market consistent equity 
values. The sensitivity shown below is linear. Equities are carried as available for sale investments. 
Changes in fair value impact the revaluation reserve in equity. In case of impairment, the change 
goes through profit or loss. 
 

 
 
 

20.1.6 Operational Risk Management 

 

Risk management is an integral part of our daily business activities. Generali applies an 
integrated approach to managing risks, ensuring that our strategic objectives (The personal 
insurer, customer attention, financial solidity and efficiency of processes) are realized. This 
integrated approach ensures that value will be created by identifying the right balance between 
risk and return, while ensuring that obligations towards our stakeholders are met. Risk 
management supports Generali in the identification, measurement and management of risks and 
monitors whether adequate and immediate actions are taken in the event of changes in our risk 
profile. 

Operational Risk Management (ORM) is responsible for the organizational infrastructure for a 
sound Risk Management System which could be defined as a set of strategies, policies, 
processes and procedures aimed at identifying, measuring, mitigating, reporting and monitoring 
on a continuous basis the risks to which Generali is exposed to. ORM also acts as a trusted 
advisor to management on all risk related issues. In this system ORM pays lot of attention to the 

Portfolio

Impact on 

equity

Impact on 

P&L

Value 588

Shock -10% -59 -44 -               

Shock +10% 59 44 -               

Equity price risk   (x €1,000)
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risk awareness of employees and risk culture, by facilitating information sessions and awareness 
workshops. 

The risk management approach is divided in risk assessments at operational, tactical and 
strategic level.  

Operational level risk assessments are performed at departments level in which the processes 
are assessed to identify the most important operational risks and to assess the implemented 
controls for mitigating the risks. This is the basis for the Management in Control framework and is 
part of the company-wide internal risk & control framework. By ‘department sample testing’ the 
operating effectiveness of the controls is determined. Where needed, plans are designed to 
further increase the effectiveness of operational processes. ORM department periodically reviews 
the quality/ findings of the sample test reports of the departments.  

Key risks threatening the achievement of the organization’s/ business line’s (strategic) objectives 
are identified in the tactical level risk self-assessment where the risk response will be decided on. 
Risk responses consist of: mitigating, accepting, sharing or avoiding. Mitigating actions are 
defined such that they can be implemented within a one-year timeframe, depending on the impact 
of the risk. The tactical risk report and the risk response actions are authorized by management 
of the departments of the business lines and the Management Board.  

These two types of assessments provide input for the Own Risk Solvency Assessment (ORSA) at 
strategic level. 

Management of each department signs an In Control Statement (ICS) every year. The ICS is 
based on results of the Operational and Tactical assessments, supplemented by the 
accompanying of the Operating Effectiveness. 

Progress on mitigating actions to the risks identified is monitored in the Risk Committee 
approximately every six weeks and reported to the Audit & Risk Committee on quarterly basis. 

The risks categories which are under the supervision of ORM are: 

• Strategic risks 

• Operational Risks  

• Business Environmental Risk 

• Outsourcing risks 

• IT risks 

The information security risk has increased due to new technological developments, such as cloud 
computing, bring-your-own device, social networks and online transactions with customers. Also, 
the environment of financial institutions is rapidly changing, increasing dependency on IT and 
complex business processes make Generali more vulnerable. In order to prevent cyber-attacks and 
information security risks, Generali needs to be sufficiently aware of potential threats. Generali runs 
the risk that new IT Security threats (e.g. technological developments) require different expertise 
and different mitigating measures. The risk that confidential information (privacy) becomes, 
intentionally or unintentionally, available to third parties, is a serious risk for Generali and its 
customers and could cause significant reputational damage. A high degree of awareness about 
dealing with confidential information concerning our customers, employees, financials and strategy 
and the safeguarding of our assets is of utmost importance and is part of the continuous program 
of awareness within Generali. 

20.1.7 Compliance 

Generali Nederland and its subsidiaries are deeply committed to the preservation of their 
reputation and integrity as well as the reputation of the international Generali Group by means of 
compliance with legislation and regulations governing their activities. Compliance does not only 
mean acting in line with regulations but it also includes maintaining our own high standards of 
integrity and customer centricity. 

Compliance has our continued attention and we encourage management and other employees to 
stimulate awareness of compliance issues. In this way we expect to assure a proactive approach 
towards compliance issues. Compliance should be seen as a daily responsibility for both 
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management and employees. Structural compliance activities are embedded within the risk 
management cycle. 

The definition and mission of the compliance function is based on the strategy of Generali 
Nederland nv: “Compliance: Our “license to operate””. Two basic principles take precedence in 
everything that we do: ethical behaviour and placing the customers' interests first. 

 

The mission of the compliance function is: 

• To contribute in safeguarding the integrity and reputation of the entity; 

• To reinforce the entity’s compliance awareness, transparency and responsibility towards 
stakeholders; 

• To support a steady and persistent business operation and build a sustainable competitive 
advantage by integrating compliance risk management in the daily activities and strategic 
planning.  

To accomplish this mission, Generali’s compliance policies aim to: 

• Set compliance guidelines for Generali’s staff; 

• Stimulate staff awareness of Generali’s obligation to comply with legislation, regulations, 
external and internal guidelines, to stimulate discussions among staff on the subject of 
business ethics and to create an environment in which staff members feel obliged to report 
perceived non-compliance and perceive no inhibitions to report perceived non-compliance. 

• Define a framework for identifying and evaluating compliance issues that Generali may face; 

• Define a framework for instituting compliance controls; 

• Implement measures to prevent or mitigate compliance risks. 

To facilitate staff awareness of internal guidelines and codes of conduct: 

• such guidelines and codes of conduct are published on Generali’s intranet 

• (Corporate) compliance facilitates awareness meetings and dilemma training regarding the 
guidelines and codes of conduct 

• Corporate compliance is responsible for a yearly communication plan concerning the 
guidelines and codes of conduct 

• Corporate compliance is responsible for a e-learning program concerning the guidelines and 
codes of conduct 

In 2015, Corporate compliance has transferred some of its activities to the business compliance 
officers in line with the development of a professional compliance organization. With regard to the 
business compliance officers, the role of the compliance officers for Life and Non-Life have been 
determined as full-time functions. The function of compliance officer Non-Life will be combined 
with the function of compliance officer for Generali Direct. The other compliance officer roles will 
remain roles. 

Compliance risk 
A compliance risk is defined as the risk of legal or regulatory fines, material financial losses or 
loss to reputation that a company may suffer as a result of not complying with laws or internal or 
external  regulations applicable to its activities.  

Compliance risk includes:  

• The risk of legal or regulatory sanctions: e.g., loss of license or a fine from the regulator; 

• The risk of reputational damage; 

• The risk of litigation by any interested party; 

• The risk of other financial loss. 

Generali has expressed a zero-tolerance threshold (risk appetite) for compliance risks. Whenever 
compliance breaches are identified, action plans are defined and monitored to either resolve the 
breach or explain why it is acceptable that a specific requirement is not adhered to. 

Main risks 2015: 

• Privacy. Laws and regulations grow tighter, use and importance of personal data increases, 
therefore compliance in this regard needs at least strong monitoring. 
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• Sanctions regulation. Challenges exist with regard to the mandatory periodic screening. 
Manual checks are performed to mitigate the risk until a permanent solution is found. 

• Intermediaries and check on Wft-permits. A change to the public licenses register has 
necessitated software changes to facilitate the regular review of licenses held by intermediaries 
acting on behalf of the company. This has been mitigated by creating a new tool to match 
information from the actual AFM database to our CRM information. To improve the operational 
follow up, compliance officers will supervise the process in cooperation with dedicated 
employees both with the life and non-life companies.  

 

Framework 
Generali and its employees have to comply with applicable law, regulations and guidelines from 
DNB, AFM and the Dutch Association of Insurers, as well as requirements defined from within the 
Generali Group and standards that Generali voluntarily adheres to. Both at Generali Group and 
local levels ethical guidelines are set out. Integrity guidelines deal with issues regarding 
employees, products and services, co-operation with third parties and intermediaries, and client 
acceptance. We have a legal and compliance framework related to all relevant requirements in 
the Dutch Financial Markets Supervision Act (WFT), Pension Law (Pensioenwet), Privacy Law 
(Wet bescherming persoonsgegevens), and Anti Money Laundering Regulations. We determine 
the impact on each changes and if necessary inform the business and/or adjust our legal and 
compliance framework. 

20.1.8 Financial reporting risk 

Financial reporting risk is the risk that quantitative and/or qualitative reporting does not accurately 
represent the financial condition of the company and consequently forms an unreliable basis for 
decision making. Causes of error can lie in the quality of data, a lack of effective internal controls 
over data gathering and transformation, a lack of requisite skills on the part of employees 
preparing or reviewing the material, insufficient resourcing, inadequate IT controls or 
inappropriate application of rules and regulations. 

Generali applies a variety of internal policies set by the ultimate parent company to govern and 
monitor the quality of financial reporting processes. These policies have been drafted in 
compliance with requirements defined in the new Solvency II legislation, guidance issued by De 
Nederlandsche Bank, and the Dutch Insurers Code, amongst others. Furthermore a variety of 
programs have been initiated at Group level to ensure that the policies are in fact implemented at 
a local level, thereby addressing as best possible the risks identified in relation to these 
processes.  

Generali reports to a variety of stakeholders using a variety of reporting standards. Financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 
as is reporting to the ultimate parent company. As of this year reporting to supervisory bodies will 
be reported in accordance with Solvency II using the standard formula. Ledgers and reporting 
processes have been designed to facilitate the reconciliation between these various sets of rules, 
ensuring the completeness and accuracy of each set of reports. New reporting systems and 
tooling have been implemented in order to facilitate the controlled production of the growing 
number of financial reports. 

20.2 Remuneration policy 

Remuneration policy, tasks and responsibilities 
Under the statutory regulations of institutions such as DNB, we have established some basic 
principles for restrained remuneration policy. All legislative frameworks such as those formulated 
in the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht, WFT) also apply to this policy. 

The company’s Management Board has adopted and implemented its own restrained 
remuneration policy which is in line with company objectives, and should remain commensurate 
with the socially acceptable standards for remuneration. That policy was approved by the 
Supervisory Board whose task it is to continually monitor compliance of the remuneration policy 
with the basic restrained remuneration principles, during its establishment, application and 
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modification. The Supervisory Board must also apply these principles in situations in which 
Generali wishes to issue a variable payment that departs from standard Restrained 
Remuneration policy. In its internal supervisory activities, the Supervisory Board must take the 
long-term interests of all stakeholders into consideration. 

Remuneration policy objectives 
The Restrained Remuneration policy at Generali aims to establish a clear and simple remuneration 
structure that caters for the scope and set-up of Generali, as well as the nature, complexity and 
scope of its activities.  
The remuneration policy helps to promote the medium and long-term interests of the company 
without encouraging board or staff members to act in their own interests or to take risks 
incommensurate with the established strategy and risk profile. Neither does the remuneration 
policy include any incentives that are at odds with Generali’s obligation to act in the interests of its 
customers and other stakeholders, or that are in conflict with Generali’s other duty of care 
obligations. The remuneration policy is in agreement with the principles of effective risk 
management.  

The level and structure of the remuneration itself allow for the recruitment and retention of 
qualified and expert staff. In setting overall emoluments, the effect on pay ratios throughout the 
company is taken into consideration.   

The scope of the Restrained Remuneration policy  
The Restrained Remuneration policy covers all employees of Generali Nederland. As of 2012, 
variable remuneration will no longer be a part of the remuneration packages of these employees. 

A separate policy has been drawn up for Management Board members. Only the remuneration 
policy for Management Board members includes a variable component, as dictated by the ‘Bonus 
Scheme’ and ‘Long-term Incentive Plan’ of the Italian parent company Assicurazioni Generali 
SpA. Of course, the variable remuneration policy applicable to the Management Board must at all 
times be in agreement with local policy, to the extent that this is based on local laws and 
legislation. 

Variable remuneration applicable to the Management Board 
Payments of variable remuneration are subject to a clawback if it subsequently transpires that the 
positive result on which it was based is demonstrably attributable to improper conduct on the part 
of the staff member concerned. 

Variable remuneration is paid out partly in cash and partly in financial instruments which change 
in in value in line with the shares of the company. The policy also states that variable 
remuneration is to be paid in stages. Fifty per cent of variable remuneration is paid upon 
allocation. The remaining 50% is paid pro rata across a period of three years, assuming a three-
year business cycle. Any financial instruments granted may not be redeemed for a period of one 
year after issue (i.e., a ‘lock-up’ applies). The three-year business cycle is consistent with the 
company’s strategic plan, and as such is also in line with the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP). 

The allocation and payment of variable remuneration is always subject to assessment or 
reassessment of the extent to which the applicable conditions have been met. To this end, the 
matter of assessments and reassessments of the allocation and payment of variable 
remuneration will be raised annually by the Supervisory Board and the Remuneration Committee. 

Special conditions apply to the payment of variable remuneration upon termination of 
employment. Only when the termination is due to death or occupational disability will the variable 
remuneration be paid directly and in full, without any penalties. In cases of retirement or 
redundancy, the postponed variable remuneration will remain intact and be determined and paid 
upon expiry of the phased payment period, with due observation of the retention period (the lock-
up) and with the provisions related to reassessment remaining in full force. In cases of voluntary 
resignation or dismissal for urgent cause, all postponed variable remuneration will be forfeited 
without the right to compensation. In principle, this will also apply to dismissal by agreement. 
However, following a recommendation by the Remuneration Committee, the Supervisory Board 
may decide to honour instances of variable remuneration at its discretion, either wholly or in part. 
In such cases, retention periods will remain in force, as will any provisions related to 
reassessment.  
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Variable payments may not exceed 20% of the annual (fixed) salary. 

Incidental limited variable remuneration for outstanding performance or effort 
A limited form of variable remuneration will remain available for other, non-board staff members 
of Generali Nederland on a strictly incidental basis, in cases of outstanding performance or effort 
that are not reflected in any periodic increase. ‘Outstanding’ refers to a level of performance that 
is a part of neither the job description nor the normal departmental activities. In addition to 
exceptional extreme effort, this may also include one-off ideas or activities that have a substantial 
positive impact on the company. Any such rewards may never exceed one month’s salary. 

As soon as there is cause, it will be determined whether the relevant staff are eligible for any such 
additional remuneration, which is therefore not an individual or acquired right. 

20.3 Insurance Risk 
Generali Schade is party to non-life insurance contract liabilities which comprise general insurance 
and health coverage. 
 
Non-life insurance contract liabilities include the outstanding claims provision. The outstanding 
claims provision is based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the 
reporting date, whether reported or not. Delays can be experienced in the notification and 
settlement of certain types of claims, therefore the ultimate cost of these cannot be known with 
certainty at the reporting date. The liability is calculated at the reporting date using a range of 
standard actuarial claim projection techniques, based on empirical data and current assumptions 
that may include a margin for adverse deviation. The liability is not discounted for the time value of 
money. However, the products disability and WIA/WGA are discounted with a risk free rate. No 
provision for equalisation or catastrophe reserves is recognised. The liabilities are derecognised 
when the obligation to pay a claim expires, is discharged or is cancelled. 
 
For non-life insurance contracts, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of 
claims reported at the reporting date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not 
yet reported at the reporting date (IBNR). It can take a significant period of time before the ultimate 
claims cost can be established with certainty and for some type of policies, IBNR claims form the 
majority of the liability in the statement of financial position. Within the analyses this is taken in 
account. Moreover a provision for claim handling expenses is carried on the books. 
 
The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims 
projection techniques, such as the Chain Ladder method. 
 
The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a company’s past claims development 
experience can be used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. As 
such, these methods extrapolate the development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per 
claim and number of claims based on the observed development of earlier years and expected loss 
ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analysed by accident years, but can also be further 
analysed by geographical area, as well as by significant business lines and claim types. Large 
claims are usually separately addressed, either by being reserved at the face value of loss adjuster 
estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future development. In most cases, no 
explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss ratios. Instead, the 
assumptions used are those implicit in the historical claims development data on which the 
projections are based. Additional qualitative judgment is used to assess the extent to which past 
trends may not apply in future (for example to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in external or 
market factors such as public attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels of claims inflation, 
judicial decisions and legislation, as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features 
and claims handling procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that 
presents the likely outcome from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the 
uncertainties involved. 
 
Such uncertainties are regularly assessed to determine whether estimation methods need to be 
adjusted. Reference should be made to paragraph 2.3 ‘Use of Estimates’ where the impact of 
changes in the use of estimates has been described and the financial impact on the current year is 
disclosed. 
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Insurance Risk 
The principal risk the company faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit 
payments or the timing thereof differ from expectations. This is influenced by the frequency of 
claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of long–term claims. 
Therefore, the objective of the company is to ensure that sufficient reserves are available to cover 
these liabilities.  
The risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts and 
geographical areas. The variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and 
implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance 
arrangements. 
 
The company purchases reinsurance as part of its risks mitigation programme. Reinsurance ceded 
is placed on both a proportional and non–proportional basis. The majority of proportional 
reinsurance is in the form of a surplus reinsurance which is taken out to reduce excess exposure of 
the Company to disability losses. Non-proportional reinsurance is primarily excess-of-loss 
reinsurance designed to mitigate the company’s net exposure to catastrophe losses. Retention 
limits for the excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product line and territory. 
 
Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding 
claims provision and are in accordance with the reinsurance contracts. Although the company has 
reinsurance arrangements, it is not relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders and thus a 
credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insurance, to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to 
meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. The company’s placement of 
reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor are the 
operations of the company substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract. 
 
Key assumptions 
The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the company’s future claims 
development will follow a similar pattern to past claims development experience. This includes 
assumptions in respect of average claim costs, claim handling costs, claim inflation factors and 
number of claims for each accident year. Additional qualitative judgments are used to assess the 
extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for example: once-off occurrence, changes 
in market factors such as public attitude to claiming, economic conditions, as well as internal 
factors such as portfolio mix, policy conditions and claims handling procedures. Judgment is further 
used to assess the extent to which external factors such as judicial decisions and government 
legislation affect the estimates. 
 
Expenses 
Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in-force 
policies and associated overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an 
appropriate expense base, adjusted for expected expense inflation if appropriate. An increase in 
the level of expenses would result in an increase in expenditure, thereby reducing profits for the 
shareholders. 
 
Discount rate 
AOV B, WAO and WIA insurance liabilities are determined as the sum of the discounted value of 
the expected liabilities and future administration expenses directly related to the contract. Discount 
rates are based on current risk free rate published by DNB. A decrease in the discount rate will 
increase the value of the insurance liability and therefore reduce profits for the shareholders. 
 
Sensitivities 
The non-life insurance claim liabilities are sensitive to the key assumptions that follow. It has not 
been possible to quantify the sensitivity of certain assumptions such as legislative changes or 
uncertainty in the estimation process. 
The following analysis is performed for reasonably possible movements in key assumptions with all 
other assumptions held constant, showing the impact on gross and net liabilities, profit before tax 
and equity. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate 
claims liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, assumptions had 
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to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are 
non-linear. 
 
Simple Risk and Long-tail branches 
Product: Accident, AOV A, Fire, Marine, Motor Third Party Liability, Motor Material Damage, 
Property, Sickness and General Third Party Liability 
Methodology : the risk margin is determined three steps 

• Via the Cost of Capital methodology of 6% of the Required Capital a cash flow is determined. This cash 

flow follows the same pattern as the discounted payments.  

• The discounted sum of the cash flow is the total risk margin. 

• The last part is to divide the risk margin between the different Lines of Business. Therefore the 

difference between the Bootstrap method(99,5% percentile) and the best estimate is used. The larger 

the difference , the larger the part of the risk margin of the LoB is. 

 
For 2015 YE the Risk Margin(including Health) is € 8.2 million, which is 4% of the best estimate 
 
Health 
Product: WVV AOV, VPU AOV B, IBNR AOV B, WAO, WIA  
Methodology: the provisions for these products the Solvency II stress scenarios are used. This 
means that on the Best Estimate the following stresses are tested: 

• Disability: first year +35%, second year +25% 

• Rehabilitation: -20% all years 

• Mortality: -20% all years 

• Costs & Inflation: 10% higher costs, Cost inflation +1% 

• Indexation: +113% 

 
The sensitivity is calculated as the change in the best estimate provision. The sensitivity leads to a 
risk margin of € 1.9 million, which is 3% of the best estimate. The main driver behind the risk 
margin is rehabilitation shock. This shock is responsible for almost 90% of the risk margin due to 
the relatively large number of claims in recent years compared with older years. 
 

20.4 Other Risks 
Disasters 
Natural disasters, terrorism and fire can cause a disturbance in the activities of Generali and have 
impact on assets (for example buildings and operational tools such as computers), loss of 
information data and on employees. In general the company tries to limit financial losses by 
insurance and a by  
the periodic  testing of the operational contingency plan. 
 
Change in legislation 
The insurance activities of the company can be impacted by change in legislation. These impacts 
can follow from amongst other changes in tax-, employability- pension- and general-financial 
regulations. The impacts can lead to higher costs or lower margins for the company. 
 
Legal Claims 
During 2015 no legal claims have arisen that might have material impact on the shareholders’ 
equity of the company. 

21 Discontinued operations 
As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 there were no discontinued operations. 

22 Related party transactions 
All transactions with related parties are conducted at arm’s length under terms and conditions 
which reflect the nature of risks borne/transferred. 
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22.1 Contracts 

The following contracts with related parties were in force during the years reported on in this 
annual report: 

• Generali Schade is involved in a variety of insurance and reinsurance contracts with other 
entities forming part of the Generali Group. These contracts are designed to share risks 
across country borders. The most significant of these contracts are those with Generali 
Group, the ultimate parent company in Trieste, whereby risks borne by Generali Schade are 
reinsured with group companies. A number of contracts involve 100% reinsurance of 
contracts with group companies in other European countries, including France, Spain and 
Austria. This has given rise to reinsurance assets at year-end of € 19.680 (2014: € 20.571).  

• Generali Nederland employs all the staff working for Generali Schade, including senior 
management. It provides premises, facilitary services including IT, telephony, HRM services, 
and the like. Generali Nederland allocates to Generali Schade a portion of the expenses it 
incurs. In 2015 that amounted to € 24.475 (2014: € 20.799). Furthermore, Generali Nederland 
has allocated a proportion of the reorganisation charge amounting to € 0 (2014: € 2.050) and 
a proportion of the incremental depreciation on capitalized ICT projects amounting to € 0 
(2014: € 1.355). 

• Generali Nederland has contracted Generali Deutschland Holding AG for the provision of IT  
services and Generali Investments Europe S.p.A. (Italy) for the asset management services. 
A part of these IT and management costs are passed on to Generali Schade.  

• Employees and management of Generali Nederland are entitled to a staff discount on the 
product range offered by Generali Schade. There have been no significant transactions 
between these parties in the years reported upon in these financial statements. 

• An annual contribution of € 397 (2014: € 392) has been paid to Meetingpoint BV, and 
business is directed through the platform run by Meetingpoint BV, but there have been no 
further transactions between Generali Schade and Meetingpoint BV. 

• Generali Schade holds an incoming reinsurance contract with Generali Leven for WIA and 
WGA.  

22.2 Transactions 

In June 2015 a dividend payment of € 3.150 was made to Generali Nederland. 

 

 

 

Expenses (x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Generali Group companies -4.601 -5.436

Total -4.601 -5.436

Assets (x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Generali Group companies 131 1.695

Generali Nederland N.V. 2.529 -               

Total 2.660 1.695
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22.3 Remuneration of directors and supervisory directors 

Remuneration of the directors and the supervisory directors is based on the cost allocation of 
Generali Nederland (see note 19): 

 

 

The bonus accounted for in 2015 consists of bonuses over 2011, 2012 and 2014. Refer to 
paragraph 20.2 for more information over the remuneration policy of Generali Schade. 

The salary cap of € 100 regarding the pension plan is temporarily compensated by means of a 
risk insurance policy. This concerns directors only.  

 

 

23 Liabilities not shown on the face of the balance sheet and 
other risk factors 

23.1 Guarantees 

As a member of the Dutch reinsurance company for losses from terrorism (NHT), our share of the 
total guarantee for the first € 300 million in 2016 amounts to  € 1.717(2015: € 1.965). 

Liabilities (x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Generali Group companies 1.044  59             

Generali Nederland N.V. -         2.798        

Total 1.044 2.857

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Current directors

Salaries 502           373           

Bonuses 168           -               

Expenses for pensions and other post-employment benefits 79             106           

Total current directors 749 479           

Former directors

Salaries -               -               

Bonuses -               -               

Expenses for pensions and other post-employment benefits -               -               

Total former directors 0 -               

Total remuneration directors 749 479           

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Current supervisory directors 41             33             

Former supervisory directors 42             -               

Total 83 33             
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23.2 Fiscal unity 

Generali Schade is part of the Generali Nederland fiscal unity and therefore the company has a 
joint and several liability for the tax position concerning income  tax of the fiscal unity. This fiscal 
unity consists of Generali Nederland and several of its subsidiaries, including Generali Schade. At 
the end of 2015 the fiscal unity has a tax asset of € 61.3 million (2014: 27.4 million).  

23.3 Investments 

Generali Schade committed itself to invest € 6.5 million in loans to small and medium sized 
enterprises in the Netherlands. At year-end 2015 an amount of € 3.1 million has actually been 
invested. As a consequence the remaining commitment amounts to € 3.4 million. 

23.4 Securities lending 

Generali Schade has engaged in the lending of securities whose legal ownership has – but 
whose beneficial ownership has not – been transferred from the company (see note 20.1.5).  

23.5 Contingencies 

Within the normal course of business Generali Schade can be a party to activities, which risks are 
not reflected in the financial statements. These contingent liabilities are included in the notes to 
the Balance Sheet, unless there is only a minor chance on an outflow of cash, or other valuables. 

23.6 Other 

Generali Schade is involved in disputes concerning claims by and against the various Generali 
Schade companies arising in the ordinary course of business. Although the outcome of these 
disputes cannot be predicted, management finds - based on the information available at present - 
it unlikely that their outcome will have any materially adverse effect on the financial position or 
results of operations of Generali Schade. Generali Schade has taken these disputes into account 
in the determination of the provision for outstanding claims. 

23.7 Leases 

The contract with CapGemini has terminated at the end of 2015. No sale and lease back 
construction is in place. 

 

 

 

Diemen, 26 April 2016 

 

Jan van Leer     Annette Mosman 

 

Statutory Director    Statutory Director 
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Other information 

24 Profit appropriation 
Provisions in the articles of association governing the appropriation of profit (article 23) 

1. The company can distribute profits only in so far as its equity is greater than the paid-up and 
called part of the capital plus the legally required reserves. Profit is distributed after adoption 
of the financial statements showing that such profit-distribution is allowed. 

2. The profit is at the disposal of the AGM which can allocate part of the profit, upon the 
recommendation of the supervisory board, to the company's employees. 

 

The following profit appropriation has been proposed: 

 

The company proposes to make € 2.8 million dividend payment for 2016 to Generali Nederland, 
the sole shareholder. 

25 Events after the balance sheet date 
There have been no substantial events after the balance date which impact the financial position of 
the company as presented in these financial statements.  

 

(x € 1.000) 2015 2014

Allocation to other reserves 1.856        4.463        

Results after tax 1.856 4.463        
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Auditor’s report 

To: the shareholders and supervisory board of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv  

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2015 

Our opinion 

We have audited the financial statements 2015 of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv 

(the company), based in Amsterdam.  

 

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Generali 

schadeverzekering maatschappij nv as at 31 December 2015 and of its result and its cash flows for 

2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 

Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code 

 

The financial statements comprise:  

• The balance sheet as at 31 December 2015 

• The profit and loss and comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for 2015 

• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information 

Basis for our opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Our responsibilities for the 

audit of the financial statements section of our report.  

 

We are independent of Generali schadeverzekering maatschappij nv in accordance with the 

Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO) and 

other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with 

the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA). 

 

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

Materiality 

Materiality € 1,350,000 

Benchmark used The materiality is based on 2% of equity. 

Additional explanation We use equity as the basis to determine the 

materiality, because in our opinion equity is the most 

appropriate basis considering the fact that solvency 

is the primary point of interest to most stakeholders 

including the supervisory authority (DNB). 

 

We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion 

are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.  

 

We agreed with the supervisory board that misstatements in excess of EUR 67,000, which are 

identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our 

view must be reported on qualitative grounds. 
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Our key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the 

supervisory board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters 

discussed.  

 

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

 

Risk Our audit response 

Estimates used in the calculation of 

insurance liabilities and Liability Adequacy 

Test (LAT) 

 

The company has significant insurance 

liabilities of € 257 million representing 74% of 

the company’s total liabilities. The 

measurement of insurance liabilities involves 

significant judgement over uncertain future 

outcomes, mainly the ultimate total settlement 

value of the insurance liabilities. Various 

economic and non-economic assumptions are 

being used to estimate these liabilities. The 

valuation of the insurance liabilities requires the 

application of significant judgement in the 

setting of: 

 

• the number of claims incurred but not 

reported, and their financial effect; 

• the development of claims amounts, 

including morbidity, recovery and mortality 

rates for bodily injury and disability covers; 

• the effect of the backlog in accounting for 

the distribution channels Bourse and 

Underwriting Agents. 

 

The company’s liability adequacy test (LAT) is a 

key test performed in order to ensure that 

insurance liabilities  are adequate in the context 

of expected future cash outflows, and as such 

an important attention point for our audit. 

 

Based on the LAT the company concluded that 

the insurance liabilities are adequate. 

We involved our own actuarial 

specialists in performing our audit 

procedures in this area which include 

among others: consideration of 

appropriateness of the assumptions 

used in the calculation of the Insurance 

liabilities and the Liability Adequacy Test 

with reference to company and industry 

data and expectations of future 

developments. 

 

Other key audit procedures included 

assessing the company’s methodology 

for calculating the insurance liabilities 

and an assessment of internal controls 

in this respect, including the analysis of 

the movements in insurance liabilities 

during the year. We assessed whether 

the movements are in line with the 

assumptions used by the company, our 

understanding of developments in the 

business and our expectations derived 

from market experience.  

 

Our work on the LAT includes assessing 

the reasonableness of the projected 

cash flows and challenging the 

assumptions adopted, based on 

company’s and industry experience 

data, expected market developments 

and trends. 

 

We considered whether the company’s 

disclosures, in note 2.12 and 8 of the 

financial statements in relation to 

insurance contract liabilities are 

compliant with the relevant accounting 

requirements. 
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Responsibilities of management and the supervisory board for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation of 

the management board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management determines is 

necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 

company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks 

mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or 

has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and circumstances 

that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the 

financial statements.  

 

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain 

sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.  

 

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we 

may not have detected all errors and fraud.  

 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of 

our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 

 

We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout 

the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence 

requirements. Our audit included, e.g.:  

• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 

obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 

from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control.  

• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.  

• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 

the disclosures 

• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal 

control that we identify during our audit.  

 

We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards.  

 

From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine those matters that were 

of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore 

the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not 

communicating the matter is in the public interest. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

 

Report on the management board report and the other information 

Pursuant to legal requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (concerning our 

obligation to report about the management board report and other information):  

• We have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the management 

board report, to the extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 

2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and whether the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the 

Dutch Civil Code has been annexed  

• We report that the management board report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the 

financial statements 

Engagement 

We were engaged by the supervisory board as auditor of Generali schadeverzekering 

maatschappij nv  in 2009 and have operated as statutory auditor since that date.
 
 

 

 

The Hague, 26 April 2016 

 

 

Ernst & Young Accountants LLP 

 

 

 

 

signed by T. de Kuijper 
 
 


